Form 603 **Corporations Act 2001** Section 671B

Notice of initial substantial holder

To Company Name/Scheme	Cashrewards Limited		
ACN/ARSN	615 084 654		
1. Details of substantial holde	r (1)		
Name	Cashrewards Limited and its subsidiaries		
ACN/ARSN (if applicable)	615 084 654		
The holder became a substantial	holder on <u>27/11/2020</u>		
2. Details of voting power	d to all the voting charge in the company or voting interests in the scheme that the substantial holder or an associate		

e total number of votes ached to all the voting shares in the company or voting interests in the scheme that the substantial holder or an associate (2) had a relevant interest (3) in on the date the substantial holder became a substantial holder are as follows:

	Class of securities (4)	Number of securities	Person's votes (5)	Voting power (6)
С	Irdinary Shares	38,658,209	38,658,209	49.0%

3. Details of relevant interests

The nature of the relevant interest the substantial holder or an associate had in the following voting securities on the date the substantial holder became substantial holder are as follows:

Holder of relevant interest	Nature of relevant interest (7)	Class and number of securities
Cashrewards Limited	Relevant interest pursuant to section 608(1)(c) of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) Arising from voluntary escrow arrangements as disclosed in the Prospectus dated 10 November 2020	38,658,209 ordinary shares

4. Details of present registered holders

The persons registered as holders of the securities referred to in paragraph 3 above are as follows:

	1 0 1		
Holder of relevant interest	Registered holder of securities	Person entitled to be registered as holder (8)	Class and number of securities
Cashrowards Limitod	Certain shareholders of the company who held shares prior to the date of completion of the IPO	as her registeren holder	38,658,209 ordinary shares

5. Consideration

The consideration paid for each relevant interest referred to in paragraph 3 above, and acquired in the four months prior to the day that the substantial became a substantial holder is as follows:

Holder of relevant interest	Date of acquisition	Consideration (9)		Class and number of securities
		Cash	Non-cash	
N/A				

1

6. Associates

The reasons the persons named in paragraph 3 above are associates of the substantial holder are as follows:

Name and ACN/ARSN (if applicable)	Nature of association
N/A	

7. Addresses

The addresses of persons named in this form are as follows:

Name	Address
Cashrewards Limited	Level 16, 1 Market Street Sydney NSW 2000

Signature

print name	Adam D'Andreti	capacity	Legal Adviser to Cashrewards Limited as authorised by the Board
sign here	Man De .	date	1/12/2020



Voluntary escrow deed

Cashrewards Group Limited (ACN 615 084 654) The Holder(s) named in item 1 of Schedule 2 The Controller(s) named in item 2 of Schedule 2

Contents Page		
1	Defined terms and interpretation	1
	1.1 Definitions in the Dictionary	1
	1.2 Interpretation	1
2	Condition precedent	1
3	Escrow restrictions	2
	3.1 Voluntary Escrow Securities	2
	3.2 Controller Interests	2
4	Holding Lock	2
	4.1 Agreement to Holding Lock	2
	4.2 Application of Holding Lock	2
	4.3 Removal of Holding Lock	2
	4.4 Acknowledgements	3
5	Exceptions	3
	5.2 Notice	5
6	Warranties	5
	6.1 Giving of warranties	5
	6.2 Warranties of Holder and Controller	5
	6.3 Breach of warranties	6
	6.4 Survival of warranties and representations	7
7	Permitted dealings with the Voluntary Escrow Securities	7
8	Consequences of breach	7
9	Amendment	7
10	Termination	7
11	Capacity	8
12	Release of results	8
13	Company to complete Schedule 2	8
14	Notices	9
	14.1 General	9

	14.2	Notices sent by email	10
15	Gene	ral	10
	15.1	Choice of law (Governing law)	10
	15.2	Choice of jurisdiction	10
	15.3	Further assurances	10
	15.4	Counterparts	10
	15.5	Time of essence	10
	15.6	Waiver	11
	15.7	Severability	11
Sched	lule 1	Dictionary	12
Sched	lule 2	Details	17
Execu	tion pa	age	19

-

Parties

- 1 The person named in item 1 of Schedule 2 (Details) (Company)
- 2 The person named in item 2 of Schedule 2 (Details) (Holder)
- The person(s) named in item 3 of Schedule 2 (Details) (Controllers and each a 3 Controller)

Background

- А The Company intends to be admitted to the official list of ASX and proposes to issue Shares pursuant to the Initial Public Offer.
- The Holder holds or will hold the Voluntary Escrow Securities on or around В Completion.
- С The Holder agrees to escrow the Voluntary Escrow Securities for the Escrow Period pursuant to the terms of this deed on the basis that the Company will take the steps necessary to be admitted to the official list of ASX.
- D To the extent that there are any Controllers named in item 3 of Schedule 2 (Details), each Controller undertakes to the Company to hold the Controller Interests pursuant to the terms of this deed on the basis that the Company will take the steps necessary to be admitted to the official list of ASX.

The parties agree

1 Defined terms and interpretation

1.1 **Definitions in the Dictionary**

Other than as expressly provided or where the context makes it clear that the following rule is not intended to apply, a term or expression starting with a capital letter:

- which is defined in the Dictionary in Schedule 1 (Dictionary), has the meaning (a) given to it in the Dictionary;
- (b) which is defined in the Corporations Act, but is not defined in the Dictionary, has the meaning given to it in the Corporations Act; and
- which is defined in the GST Law, but is not defined in the Dictionary or the (c) Corporations Act, has the meaning given to it in the GST Law.

1.2 Interpretation

The interpretation clause in Schedule 1 (Dictionary) sets out rules of interpretation for this deed.

2 **Condition precedent**

The respective rights and obligations of the parties under this deed are conditional (a) upon Completion occurring and the Holder holding Voluntary Escrow Securities immediately following Completion.

(b) If the condition precedent in clause 2(a), or if Completion does not occur, in either case by 31 December 2020, this deed will terminate with immediate effect.

3 Escrow restrictions

3.1 Voluntary Escrow Securities

Subject to clause 5 (Exceptions):

- (a) during the First Escrow Period, the Holder must not Deal in the Tranche 1 Securities;
- (b) during the Second Escrow Period, the Holder must not Deal in the Tranche 2 Securities; and
- (c) during the Third Escrow Period, the Holder must not Deal in the Tranche 3 Securities.

3.2 Controller Interests

Subject to clause 5 (**Exceptions**), during the Escrow Period, the Controller must not Deal in the Controller Interests.

4 Holding Lock

4.1 Agreement to Holding Lock

Subject to clause 4.2 (**Application of Holding Lock**), the Holder agrees to the application of a Holding Lock to the Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Shares, and agrees to take all necessary steps to ensure that its Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Shares are registered and held for the Holder on the Issuer Sponsored Subregister whilst any restrictions under clause 3 (**Escrow restrictions**) apply to those Voluntary Escrow Securities.

4.2 Application of Holding Lock

The Company will apply a Holding Lock to the Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Shares upon Completion (or on the Issue Date for any Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Shares and are issued after Completion) and may only remove the Holding Lock with respect to the Voluntary Escrow Securities if permitted under clause 4.3 (**Removal of Holding Lock**).

4.3 Removal of Holding Lock

- (a) Upon request by the Holder or, where applicable, a Controller, the Company must promptly remove the Holding Lock with respect to the Voluntary Escrow Securities to the extent necessary to facilitate a Dealing that is permitted under clause 5 (Exceptions).
- (b) The Company must remove the Holding Lock with respect to the Voluntary Escrow Securities on the Business Day after the end of the relevant Escrow Period.
- (c) The Company must notify ASX that the Voluntary Escrow Securities will be released from the Holding Lock in accordance with the timing requirements set out in ASX Listing Rule 3.10A.

4.4 Acknowledgements

The parties acknowledge and agree that, in respect of any Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Options, the Company will:

- (a) inform its share registry of the restrictions applying to those Options contained in this deed;
- (b) include, or will procure its share registry to include, a restrictive legend on the relevant Option certificates reflecting the restrictions contained in this deed in the following terms (or on such other terms as the Company deems appropriate having regard to the need to put potential purchasers on notice of the restrictions in this deed):

"THE OPTIONS COMPRISED HEREIN ARE SUBJECT TO RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER UNDER AN ESCROW ARRANGEMENT AND AS SUCH, MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED UNTIL AFTER [insert end date of escrow period], OTHER THAN IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THAT ARRANGEMENT."

- (c) the Company will to the extent necessary to permit Dealings of the Voluntary Escrow Securities permitted by this deed and at the conclusion of the relevant Escrow Period:
 - (i) promptly inform its share registry of those circumstances4.4(a);
 - (ii) issue new certificates for such Options omitting the restrictive legend referred to in clause 4.4(b);
 - (iii) notify ASX that those Voluntary Escrow Securities will be released from the above arrangements, in accordance with the timing requirements set out in Listing Rule 3.10A.

5 Exceptions

- (a) During the Escrow Period, the Holder may Deal in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities and a Controller may Deal in its Controller Interests if the Dealing arises solely as a result of:
 - (i) the acceptance a bona fide third party offer under a Takeover Bid in relation to those Voluntary Escrow Securities, provided that the holders of at least half of the applicable Securities that are not subject to any voluntary escrow deed, and to which the offers under the bid relate, have accepted the bid; or
 - the transfer or cancellation of the Voluntary Escrow Securities in the Company as part of a scheme of arrangement under Part 5.1 of the Corporations Act, provided that the scheme of arrangement has received all necessary approvals, including all such necessary court and shareholder approvals, provided,

in each case, that if for any reason any or all Voluntary Escrow Securities are not transferred or cancelled in accordance with such a Takeover Bid or scheme of arrangement (including because the Takeover Bid does not become unconditional), then the Holder agrees that the restrictions applying to the Voluntary Escrow Securities under this deed will continue to apply and without limiting the foregoing, the Holding Lock will be reapplied to all Voluntary Escrow Securities not so transferred or cancelled. For the avoidance of doubt, the

Controller can make a Dealing if required to enable the Holder to take any of the actions in this clause 5(a).

- (b) Notwithstanding any condition to the contrary in this deed, during the Escrow Period, the Holder or Controller may transfer (in one or more transactions) any or all Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) to an Affiliate or an Affiliated Fund of the Holder or Controller (as applicable) provided:
 - such Affiliate or Affiliated Fund agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions of this deed by entering into such further agreements as the Company may reasonably require (provided that the Company may not require any change to the remaining duration of the restrictions in clause 3 or to the nature of those restrictions); and
 - (ii) the transfer does not result in a change to the beneficial ownership of the Voluntary Escrow Securities.
- (c) Notwithstanding any condition to the contrary in this deed, during the Escrow Period, the Holder or Controller may encumber any (or all) of its Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) to a bona fide third party financial institution (Financial Institution) as security for a loan, hedge or other financial accommodation provided that:
 - the encumbrance does not in any way constitute a direct or indirect disposal of the economic interests, or decrease an economic interest, that the Holder or Controller (as applicable) has in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable); and
 - (ii) no Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) are to be transferred or delivered to the Financial Institution or any other person in connection with the encumbrance. Any agreement with a Financial Institution must provide that the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) are to remain in escrow and subject to the terms of this deed as if the Financial Institution were a party to this deed.
- (d) During the Escrow Period, the Holder may Deal in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities to the extent the Dealing is required by applicable law (including an order of a court of competent jurisdiction), provided that any recipient of the Voluntary Escrow Securities will no longer be bound by any Holding Lock or restrictions on Dealing.
- (e) Notwithstanding any condition to the contrary in this deed, during the Escrow Period, the Holder or Controller may Deal in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests upon the death or incapacity of the Holder or Controller, provided that the transferee will no longer be bound by any Holding Lock or restrictions on Dealing in respect of the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable).
- (f) During the Escrow Period, the Holder may Deal in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities if the Dealing is an exercise of an Option in accordance with the terms of an equity incentive scheme. Any Shares issued on such exercise will be subject to the same restrictions under this Deed applying to the exercised Options.

5.2 Notice

If the Holder or Controller becomes aware:

- (a) that a Dealing in any Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) has occurred, or is likely to occur, during the Escrow Period; or
- (b) of any matter which is likely to give rise to a Dealing in any Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) during the Escrow Period,

it must notify the Company as soon as practicable after becoming aware of the Dealing or the matters giving rise to the Dealing, providing full details.

6 Warranties

6.1 Giving of warranties

Each of the warranties and representations in this clause 6 is given in favour of the Company:

- (a) as at the date of this deed; and
- (b) at all times until expiry of the Escrow Period.

The warranties and representations in this clause 6 are given in respect of any and all Voluntary Escrow Securities which the Holder holds and any and all Controller Interests which the Controller holds from time to time during the Escrow Period, including as a result of a permitted Dealing in accordance with clause 5 (**Exceptions**).

6.2 Warranties of Holder and Controller

Each of the Holder and each Controller jointly and severally warrants and represents the following with respect to themselves:

- (a) it has full power and authority, without the consent of any other person, to enter into and perform its obligations under this deed (including, if the Holder or Controller (as applicable) has entered into this deed as a trustee (**Trustee**), under the trust deed for the relevant trust (**Trust**));
- (b) it has taken all necessary action to authorise the execution, delivery and performance of this deed in accordance with its terms;
- (c) this deed constitutes legal, valid and binding obligations and, subject to any necessary stamping and registration, is enforceable in accordance with its terms;
- (d) the execution, delivery and performance by the Holder and each Controller (as applicable) of this deed does not and will not violate, breach or result in a contravention of:
 - (i) any applicable law, regulation or authorisation;
 - (ii) its constitution or other constituent documents (or, if the Holder or Controller (as applicable)] is a Trustee, the trust deed for the Trust); or
 - (iii) any agreement, undertaking, encumbrance or document which is binding on that party.

- (e) before the Escrow Period begins, it has not done, or omitted to do, any act which would breach clause 3 (Escrow restrictions) if done or omitted to be done during the Escrow Period or taken any other action which will cause it to breach clause 3 (Escrow restrictions) during the Escrow Period;
- (f) no person has, or will have immediately following Completion, any economic or beneficial interest in the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) other than the Holder or the Controllers and the underlying beneficial owners of the Controller:
- no person (other than the Holder or a Controller) has the power to direct or cause (g) the direction of the management of the Holder or Controller (as applicable), whether through the ownership of voting securities or by agreement or by virtue of any person being the manager or adviser of the Holder or a Controller (as applicable) or otherwise;
- (h) immediately following Completion, the Holder will hold the Voluntary Escrow Securities and each Controller will hold the Controller Interests as set out in Schedule 2 (Details);
- the Holder and Controllers have not granted any encumbrances or any interests or (i) rights to third parties in respect of the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable), and will not do so during the Escrow Period (other than permitted by this deed), such that the Voluntary Escrow Securities and Controller Interests are free from all encumbrances and other third party interests or rights (other than where permitted by this deed);
- (i) except for Securities held by Friendly Group Pty Limited (ACN 155 293 931) and Shares acquired under the Initial Public Offer at the Offer Price (if any), the Voluntary Escrow Securities and Controller Interests (as applicable) will, immediately following Completion, be all of the securities, economic interests or other interests that the Holder or Controller (as applicable) directly or indirectly has in the Company; and
- (k) if the Holder or a Controller (as applicable) is a Trustee:
 - (i) the Trustee is the sole trustee of the Trust and, to the best of its knowledge and belief, there is no proposal to remove or replace it as trustee of the Trust:
 - (ii) the Holder or Controller (as applicable) has the right to be fully indemnified out of the assets of the Trust in respect of any liability arising under, or in connection with, this deed and the right has not been modified, released or diminished in any way. The assets of the Trust are sufficient to satisfy that right in full and the Holder or Controller (as applicable) has not released or disposed of its equitable lien over that trust; and
 - (iii) the Trust has not been terminated and there is no effective proposal or requirement to wind up, deregister, terminate, reconstitute or resettle the Trust.

6.3 **Breach of warranties**

A breach of any of the warranties and representations in this clause 6 is a breach of the terms of this deed.

6.4 Survival of warranties and representations

The warranties and representations in this clause 6 survive termination of this deed.

7 Permitted dealings with the Voluntary Escrow Securities

Except as expressly provided for in clause 3 (**Escrow restrictions**), nothing in this deed restricts the Holder or a Controller from dealing with the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) or exercising rights attaching to, or afforded to the holder of, the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable), including (without limitation) by:

- (a) exercising any voting rights attaching to Voluntary Escrow Securities;
- (b) receiving or being entitled to any dividend, return of capital or other distribution attaching to Voluntary Escrow Securities; or
- (c) receiving or participating in any rights or bonus issue in connection with the Voluntary Escrow Securities.

8 Consequences of breach

- (a) If the Holder or Controller breaches this deed, each of the following applies:
 - (i) the Company may take any steps that it considers necessary to enforce this deed and/or rectify the breach; and
 - the Company may refuse to acknowledge, deal with, accept or register any sale, assignment, transfer or conversion of any of the Voluntary Escrow Securities. This is in addition and without prejudice to other rights and remedies of the Company.
- (b) The parties agree that damages would be an insufficient remedy for breach of clause 3 and the Holder and each of the Controllers agree that the Company is entitled to seek and obtain an injunction or specific performance to enforce the Holder's and the Controllers' obligations under clause 3 (Escrow restrictions) without proof of actual damage and without prejudice to any of its other rights or remedies.

9 Amendment

Subject to clause 13 (**Company to complete Schedule 2**), this deed can only be amended or replaced by another deed executed by the parties.

10 Termination

This deed terminates automatically if:

- (a) the Company withdraws the Initial Public Offer;
- (b) the Company is not admitted to the official list of ASX by 31 December 2020; or

(c) otherwise when the Holding Lock is released in full in respect of all Voluntary Escrow Securities and Controller Interests.

11 Capacity

If the Holder or Controller has entered into this deed as a trustee:

- (a) notwithstanding any other provision of this deed including any provision expressed to prevail over this clause 11 and subject to clause 11(c), the Holder or Controller (as applicable) enters into this deed only in its capacity as trustee of the relevant trust and in no other capacity. A liability arising under or in connection with this deed can be enforced against the Holder or Controller (as applicable) only to the extent which it can be satisfied out of the property of the relevant trust for which the Holder or Controller (as applicable) is actually indemnified for the liability. The Holder or Controller (as applicable) will exercise its rights of indemnification in order to satisfy its obligations under this deed;
- (b) subject to clause 11(c), a party to this deed may not sue the Holder or Controller (as applicable) in any capacity other than as trustee in respect of the relevant trust, including seeking the appointment to the Holder or Controller (as applicable) of a receiver (except in relation to property of the relevant trust), a liquidator, administrator or any similar person; and
- (c) the provisions of this clause 11 will not apply to any obligation or liability of the Holder or Controller (as applicable) to the extent that it is not satisfied because under the relevant trust deed or by operation of law, there is a reduction in the extent to which the Holder or Controller (as applicable) is entitled to exercise its right of indemnification out of the assets of the relevant trust, or the right does not exist at all, as a result of the Holder's or Controller's (as applicable) fraud, negligence, improper performance of duties or breach of trust.

12 Release of results

The Company agrees to release its:

- (a) full year financial results for the period ending 30 June 2021;
- (b) half year financial results for the period ending 31 December 2021; and
- (c) full year financial results for the period ending 30 June 2022,

in accordance with the timeframes required by the Corporations Act and ASX Listing Rules.

13 Company to complete Schedule 2

Each party authorises the Company (or any person delegated such authority in writing by the Company) to insert in Schedule 2 (**Details**), after execution of this deed by each party:

- (a) the particulars of Voluntary Escrow Securities in item 5 of Schedule 2 (**Details**); and
- (b) any other details necessary to complete Schedule 2 (Details).

14 Notices

14.1 General

- (a) Unless expressly stated otherwise in this deed and subject to clause 14.2 (Notices sent by email) a notice, consent or other communication given under this deed including, but not limited to, a request, certificate, demand, consent, waiver or approval, to or by a party to this deed (Notice):
 - (i) must be in legible writing and in English;
 - (ii) must be addressed to the party to whom it is to be given (Addressee) at the address or email address set out in Schedule 2 (Details) or to any other address or email address a party notifies to the other under this clause;
 - (iii) must be signed by or on behalf of the sender (if an individual) or an Officer of the sender;
 - (iv) must be either:
 - (A) delivered by hand or sent by pre-paid mail (by airmail if sent to or from a place outside of Australia) to the Addressee; or
 - (B) sent by email to the Addressee's email address; and
 - (v) is deemed to be received by the Addressee in accordance with clause 14.1(c).
- (b) If:
 - a party changes its address and fails to notify the other party (or parties, as applicable) of this change and the new address, delivery of Notices marked to the attention of the Addressee at that new address is deemed compliant with the notice obligations under this clause;
 - (ii) an individual named in clause 14.1 ceases to work in the role specified or ceases to work for the Addressee and the Addressee fails to notify the other party (or parties, as applicable) of an alternative individual, delivery of notices marked to the attention of an individual in the same or equivalent role at that party is deemed compliant with the notice obligations under this clause; and/or
 - (iii) an individual associated with an email address listed in clause 14.1 ceases to work for the Addressee and the Addressee fails to notify the other party (or parties, as applicable) of an alternative email address, notices sent by email to a manager or equivalent level personnel at that party is deemed compliant with the notice obligations under this clause.
- (c) Without limiting any other means by which the sender may be able to prove that a Notice has been received by the Addressee, a Notice is deemed to be received:
 - (i) if sent by hand, when delivered to the Addressee;
 - (ii) if sent by post, on the 6th Business Day after the date of posting, or if to or from a place outside Australia, on the 10th Business Day after the date of posting; or

- (iii) if sent by email:
 - (A) when the sender receives an automated message confirming delivery; or
 - (B) 30 minutes after the time sent (as recorded on the device from which the sender sent the email) unless the sender receives an automated message that the email has not been delivered,

whichever happens first,

but if the delivery or receipt is on a day which is not a Business Day or is after 5.00pm (Addressee's time), it is deemed to be received at 9.00am on the following Business Day.

14.2 Notices sent by email

Notices sent by email need not be marked for attention in the way stated in clause 14.1. However, the email:

- (a) must be sent to the email address set out in Schedule 2 (**Details**) (or to any other email address a party notifies to the other under this clause; and
- (b) must state the first and last name of the sender.

Notices sent by email are taken to be signed by the named sender.

15 General

15.1 Choice of law (Governing law)

This deed is governed by the laws of New South Wales, Australia.

15.2 Choice of jurisdiction

Each party irrevocable and unconditionally submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of New South Wales, Australia, including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Federal Court of Australia sitting in New South Wales, Australia.

15.3 Further assurances

Except as expressly provided in this deed, each party must, at its own expense, do all things reasonably necessary to give full effect to this deed and the matters contemplated by it.

15.4 Counterparts

This deed may be executed in any number of counterparts and signatures on behalf of a party may be on different counterparts.

15.5 Time of essence

Time is of the essence to this deed.

15.6 Waiver

- (a) No waiver of a right or remedy under this deed is effective unless it is in writing and signed by the party granting it. It is only effective in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which it is granted.
- (b) A single or partial exercise of a right or remedy under this deed does not prevent a further exercise of that or of any other right or remedy.
- (c) Failure to exercise or delay in exercising a right or remedy under this deed does not operate as a waiver or prevent further exercise of that or any other right or remedy.

15.7 Severability

Any term of this deed which is wholly or partially void or unenforceable is severed to the extent that it is void or unenforceable. The validity or enforceability of the remainder of this deed is not affected.

Schedule 1 Dictionary

1 Dictionary

The following definitions apply in this deed.

Affiliate means any Related Body Corporate.

Affiliated Fund means each corporation, trust, limited liability company, general or limited partnership or other entity under common control with the Holder or Controller (as applicable) or that receives investment advice from the investment adviser to the Holder or Controller (as applicable) or any of their Affiliates or an investment adviser Affiliated with such investment adviser.

ASX means ASX Limited (ACN 008 624 691) or the financial market operated by it, as the context requires.

ASX Listing Rules means the listing rules of ASX.

ASX Settlement Operating Rules means the settlement operating rules of ASX Settlement Pty Ltd (ACN 008 504 532).

Business Day means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on which banks are open for general banking business in New South Wales, Australia.

Company means Cashrewards Group Limited (ACN 615 084 654) (to be renamed "Cashrewards Limited").

Completion means the issue and transfer and allotment of the Shares the subject of the Initial Public Offer.

Controllers means each person named in item 3 of Schedule 2 (**Details**) and **Controller** means any one of those persons.

Controller Interests means the securities, economic interests or other interests in the Voluntary Escrow Securities (for the duration of the Escrow Period) in which the Controller has a direct or indirect interest and each intermediate entity through which that interest occurs, full particulars of which are set out in item 6 of Schedule 2 (**Details**).

Corporations Act means Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Dealing, in respect of any Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interest, means to directly or indirectly:

- (a) sell, assign, transfer or otherwise Dispose of any legal, beneficial or economic interest in such Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable);
- (b) encumber or grant a security interest over such Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable) or any legal, beneficial or economic interest in that Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable);
- (c) grant or exercise an option in respect of such Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable);

- (d) do, or omit to do, any act if the act or omission would have the effect of transferring, whether directly or indirectly, effective ownership or control of, or any legal, beneficial or economic interest in, such Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable); or
- (e) agree to do any of those things,

and **Deal** has a corresponding meaning.

Dispose has the meaning given in the ASX Listing Rules.

Escrow Period means the period for which the Voluntary Escrow Securities are escrowed as set out in item 4 of Schedule 2 (**Details**).

Financial Institution has the meaning given to that term in clause 5(c).

First Escrow Period means the period for which the Tranche 1 Securities are escrowed as set out in item 4 of Schedule 2 (**Details**).

GST Law has the meaning given to it in the *A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999* (Cth).

Holding Lock has the meaning given to that term in section 2 of the ASX Settlement Operating Rules.

Initial Public Offer means the proposed initial public offering of Shares by the Company and by SaleCo.

Issue Date means, in relation to a Security, the date the Security is issued.

Issuer Sponsored Subregister has the meaning given to that term in section 2 of the ASX Settlement Operating Rules.

Offer Price has the meaning given in the Prospectus.

Option means an option to acquire a Share.

Prospectus means the prospectus to be issued by the Company and SaleCo in connection with the Initial Public Offer.

SaleCo means Cashrewards SaleCo Limited (ACN 644 956 383).

Second Escrow Period means the period for which the Tranche 2 Securities are escrowed as set out in item 4 of Schedule 2 (**Details**).

Security means a Share (including a Share issued on exercise of an Option) or an Option and a reference to **Securities** includes any combination of Shares and Options.

Share means a fully paid ordinary share in the capital of the Company.

Takeover Bid has the meaning given in the Corporations Act and includes a proportional takeover bid.

Third Escrow Period means period for which the Tranche 3 Securities are escrowed as set out in item 4 of Schedule 2 (**Details**).

Tranche 1 Securities means the Securities set out in item 5 of Schedule 2 (**Details**) in the row titled "Tranche 1 Securities".

Tranche 2 Securities means the Securities set out in item 5 of Schedule 2 (**Details**) in the row titled "Tranche 2 Securities".

Tranche 3 Securities means the Securities set out in item 5 of Schedule 2 (**Details**) in the row titled "Tranche 3 Securities".

Trust has the meaning given in clause 6.2(a).

Trustee has the meaning given in clause 6.2(a).

Voluntary Escrow Securities means:

- (a) in relation to a Holder, the Securities specified in item 5 of Schedule 2 (Details); and
- (b) any securities attaching to or arising out of those Securities including any Shares issued on the exercise of Options.

2 Interpretation

In this deed the following rules of interpretation apply unless the contrary intention appears:

- (a) headings are for convenience only and do not affect the interpretation of this deed;
- (b) the singular includes the plural and vice versa;
- (c) words that are gender neutral or gender specific include each gender;
- (d) where a word or phrase is given a particular meaning, other parts of speech and grammatical forms of that word or phrase have corresponding meanings;
- (e) the words 'such as', 'including', 'particularly' and similar expressions are not words of limitation;
- (f) a reference to:
 - (i) a person includes a natural person, partnership, joint venture, government agency, association, corporation, trust or other body corporate;
 - a thing (including but not limited to a chose in action or other right) includes a part of that thing;
 - (iii) a party includes its agents, successors and permitted assigns;
 - (iv) a document includes all amendments or supplements to that document;
 - a clause, term, party, schedule or attachment is a reference to a clause or term of, or party, schedule or attachment to this deed;
 - (vi) this deed includes all schedules and attachments to it;

- (vii) a law includes a constitutional provision, treaty, decree, convention, statute, regulation, ordinance, by-law, judgment, rule of common law or equity or a rule of an applicable financial market and is a reference to that law as amended, consolidated or replaced;
- (viii) a statute includes any regulation, ordinance, by-law or other subordinate legislation under it;
- (ix) an agreement other than this deed includes an undertaking, or legally enforceable arrangement or understanding whether or not in writing; and
- (x) a monetary amount is in Australian dollars and all amounts payable under or in connection with this deed are payable in Australian dollars;
- (g) unless otherwise specified in this deed, an agreement on the part of two or more persons binds them severally and not jointly;
- (h) no rule of construction applies to the disadvantage of a party because that party was responsible for the preparation of this deed or any part of it;
- (i) when the day on which something must be done is not a Business Day, that thing must be done on the following Business Day;
- (j) in determining the time of day where relevant to this deed, the relevant time of day is:
 - (i) for the purposes of giving or receiving notices, the time of day where a party receiving a notice is located; or
 - (ii) for any other purpose under this deed, the time of day in the place where the party required to perform an obligation is located;
- (k) a day is the period of time commencing at midnight and ending immediately before the next midnight is to occur;
- (I) if a period of time is calculated from a particular day, act or event (such as the giving of a notice), unless otherwise stated in this deed, it is to be calculated exclusive of that day, or the day of that act or event; and
- (m) where no Controller is named in item 3 of Schedule 2 (Details), then references in this deed to Controller, Controllers and Controller Interests may be disregarded when applying the terms and conditions of this deed.

3 Compliance with ASX Listing Rules

During the Escrow Period, and for so long as the Company is listed on the ASX:

- (a) notwithstanding anything contained in this deed, if the ASX Listing Rules prohibit an act being done, that act must not be done;
- (b) nothing contained in this deed prevents an act being done that the ASX Listing Rules require to be done;
- (c) if the ASX Listing Rules require an act to be done or not to be done, authority is given for that act to be done or not to be done (as the case may be);

- (d) if the ASX Listing Rules require this deed to contain a provision and it does not contain such a provision, this deed is deemed to contain that provision;
- (e) if the ASX Listing Rules require this deed not to contain a provision and it contains such a provision, this deed is deemed not to contain that provision; and
- (f) if any provision of this deed is or becomes inconsistent with the ASX Listing Rules, this deed is deemed not to contain that provision to the extent of the inconsistency.

Schedule 2 Details

1 Company

Cashrewards Group Limited (ABN 95 615 084 654) (to be renamed "Cashrewards Limited") of Suite 306, Level 3, 815 Pacific Highway Chatswood NSW 2067 with email address retief.lampen@cashrewards.com to the attention of Retief Lampen.

2 Holder

Eventive Pty Limited ACN 086 967 259 ATF Andrew Clarke Family Trust of 5 Allen Avenue, Bilgola Beach NSW 2107 with email address andrew.clarke@cashrewards.com to the attention of Andrew Clarke.

3 Controller(s)

Controller	Address and other notice details
Andrew Harkness Clarke (Controller 1)	Address: 5 Allen Avenue, Bilgola Beach NSW 2107
	Email: andrew.clarke@cashrewards.com
	Attention: Andrew Clarke

4 Escrow Period

In relation to:

- (a) the First Escrow Period, the period commencing immediately following Completion and ending at 10.00am on the next trading day after the date that the Company has released to the ASX its preliminary final report (being the Company's Appendix 4E) for the financial year ending 30 June 2021;
- (b) the Second Escrow Period, the period commencing immediately following Completion and ending at 10.00am on the next trading day after the date that the Company has released to the ASX its preliminary half-year financial statements (being the Company's Appendix 4D) for the half year ended 31 December 2021; and
- (c) the Third Escrow Period, the period commencing immediately following Completion and ending at 10.00am on the next trading day after the date that the Company has released to the ASX its preliminary final report (being the Company's Appendix 4E) for the financial year ending 30 June 2022.

5 Particulars of Voluntary Escrow Securities

Tranche 1 Securities	All of the Securities in the Company held by the Holder immediately following Completion other than Shares acquired under the Initial Public Offer at the Offer Price (if any).
Tranche 2 Securities	80% of the Tranche 1 Securities.
Tranche 3 Securities	30% of the Tranche 1 Securities.

6 Particulars of Controller Interests

Controller	Particulars of Controller Interests
Andrew Clarke (Controller 1)	Holds all of the issued share capital of the Holder.
	Power to exercise, or control the exercise of, a right to vote attached to the Escrowed Securities.
	Power to dispose of, or control the exercise of a power to dispose of, the Escrowed Securities.

Execution page

Executed as a deed.

Signed, sealed and delivered by **Cashrewards Group Limited (ACN 615 084 654)** in accordance with section 127 of the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth) by:

Signature of director

Bernard Wilson

Name of director (print)

Signature of director/secretary

Retief Lampen

Name of director/secretary (print)

Executed as a deed.

Signed, sealed and delivered by **Eventive Pty Limited (ACN 086 967 259) ATF Andrew Clarke Family Trust** in accordance with section 127 of the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth) by:

Lhe

Signature of director

Signature of director/secretary

Lorica Clarke

Name of director (print)

Andrew Clarke

Name of director/secretary (print)

Signed, sealed and delivered by **Andrew Harkness Clarke** in the presence of:

Sult

Signature of witness

lain Skelton

Name of witness (print)

Signature of Andrew Harkness Clarke



Voluntary escrow deed

Cashrewards Group Limited (ACN 615 084 654) The Holder(s) named in item 1 of Schedule 2 The Controller(s) named in item 2 of Schedule 2

Contents		Page	
1	Defined terms and interpretation	1	
	1.1 Definitions in the Dictionary	1	
	1.2 Interpretation	1	
2	Condition precedent		
3	Escrow restrictions		
	3.1 Voluntary Escrow Securities	2	
	3.2 Controller Interests	2	
4	Holding Lock	2	
	4.1 Agreement to Holding Lock	2	
	4.2 Application of Holding Lock	2	
	4.3 Removal of Holding Lock	2	
	4.4 Acknowledgements	3	
5	Exceptions	3	
	5.2 Notice	5	
6	Warranties	5	
	6.1 Giving of warranties	5	
	6.2 Warranties of Holder and Controller	5	
	6.3 Breach of warranties	6	
	6.4 Survival of warranties and representations	7	
7	Permitted dealings with the Voluntary Escrow Securities 7		
8	Consequences of breach 7		
9	Amendment 7		
10	Termination 7		
11	Capacity 8		
12	Release of results 8		
13	Company to complete Schedule 2 8		
14	Notices 9		
	14.1 General	9	

14	1.2	Notices sent by email	10
15 General		al	10
15	5.1	Choice of law (Governing law)	10
15	5.2	Choice of jurisdiction	10
15	5.3	Further assurances	10
15	5.4	Counterparts	10
15	5.5	Time of essence	10
15	5.6	Waiver	11
15	5.7	Severability	11
Schedule	e 1	Dictionary	12
Schedul	e 2	Details	16
Execution page		18	

.....

_

Parties

- 1 The person named in item 1 of Schedule 2 (Details) (Company)
- 2 The person named in item 2 of Schedule 2 (Details) (Holder)
- 3 The person(s) named in item 3 of Schedule 2 (Details) (Controllers and each a Controller)

Background

- A The Company intends to be admitted to the official list of ASX and proposes to issue Shares pursuant to the Initial Public Offer.
- B The Holder holds or will hold the Voluntary Escrow Securities on or around Completion.
- C The Holder agrees to escrow the Voluntary Escrow Securities for the Escrow Period pursuant to the terms of this deed on the basis that the Company will take the steps necessary to be admitted to the official list of ASX.
- D To the extent that there are any Controllers named in item 3 of Schedule 2 (**Details**), each Controller undertakes to the Company to hold the Controller Interests pursuant to the terms of this deed on the basis that the Company will take the steps necessary to be admitted to the official list of ASX.

The parties agree

1 Defined terms and interpretation

1.1 Definitions in the Dictionary

Other than as expressly provided or where the context makes it clear that the following rule is not intended to apply, a term or expression starting with a capital letter:

- (a) which is defined in the Dictionary in Schedule 1 (**Dictionary**), has the meaning given to it in the Dictionary;
- (b) which is defined in the Corporations Act, but is not defined in the Dictionary, has the meaning given to it in the Corporations Act; and
- (c) which is defined in the GST Law, but is not defined in the Dictionary or the Corporations Act, has the meaning given to it in the GST Law.

1.2 Interpretation

The interpretation clause in Schedule 1 (**Dictionary**) sets out rules of interpretation for this deed.

2 Condition precedent

(a) The respective rights and obligations of the parties under this deed are conditional upon Completion occurring and the Holder holding Voluntary Escrow Securities immediately following Completion.

(b) If the condition precedent in clause 2(a), or if Completion does not occur, in either case by 31 December 2020, this deed will terminate with immediate effect.

3 Escrow restrictions

3.1 Voluntary Escrow Securities

Subject to clause 5 (Exceptions):

- (a) during the First Escrow Period, the Holder must not Deal in the Tranche 1 Securities; and
- (b) during the Second Escrow Period, the Holder must not Deal in the Tranche 2 Securities.

3.2 Controller Interests

Subject to clause 5 (**Exceptions**), during the Escrow Period, the Controller must not Deal in the Controller Interests.

4 Holding Lock

4.1 Agreement to Holding Lock

Subject to clause 4.2 (**Application of Holding Lock**), the Holder agrees to the application of a Holding Lock to the Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Shares, and agrees to take all necessary steps to ensure that its Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Shares are registered and held for the Holder on the Issuer Sponsored Subregister whilst any restrictions under clause 3 (**Escrow restrictions**) apply to those Voluntary Escrow Securities.

4.2 Application of Holding Lock

The Company will apply a Holding Lock to the Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Shares upon Completion (or on the Issue Date for any Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Shares and are issued after Completion) and may only remove the Holding Lock with respect to the Voluntary Escrow Securities if permitted under clause 4.3 (**Removal of Holding Lock**).

4.3 Removal of Holding Lock

- (a) Upon request by the Holder or, where applicable, a Controller, the Company must promptly remove the Holding Lock with respect to the Voluntary Escrow Securities to the extent necessary to facilitate a Dealing that is permitted under clause 5 (Exceptions).
- (b) The Company must remove the Holding Lock with respect to the Voluntary Escrow Securities on the Business Day after the end of the relevant Escrow Period.
- (c) The Company must notify ASX that the Voluntary Escrow Securities will be released from the Holding Lock in accordance with the timing requirements set out in ASX Listing Rule 3.10A.

4.4 Acknowledgements

The parties acknowledge and agree that, in respect of any Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Options, the Company will:

- (a) inform its share registry of the restrictions applying to those Options contained in this deed;
- (b) include, or will procure its share registry to include, a restrictive legend on the relevant Option certificates reflecting the restrictions contained in this deed in the following terms (or on such other terms as the Company deems appropriate having regard to the need to put potential purchasers on notice of the restrictions in this deed):

"THE OPTIONS COMPRISED HEREIN ARE SUBJECT TO RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER UNDER AN ESCROW ARRANGEMENT AND AS SUCH, MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED UNTIL AFTER [insert end date of escrow period], OTHER THAN IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THAT ARRANGEMENT."

- (c) the Company will to the extent necessary to permit Dealings of the Voluntary Escrow Securities permitted by this deed and at the conclusion of the relevant Escrow Period:
 - (i) promptly inform its share registry of those circumstances4.4(a);
 - (ii) issue new certificates for such Options omitting the restrictive legend referred to in clause 4.4(b);
 - (iii) notify ASX that those Voluntary Escrow Securities will be released from the above arrangements, in accordance with the timing requirements set out in Listing Rule 3.10A.

5 Exceptions

- (a) During the Escrow Period, the Holder may Deal in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities and a Controller may Deal in its Controller Interests if the Dealing arises solely as a result of:
 - (i) the acceptance a bona fide third party offer under a Takeover Bid in relation to those Voluntary Escrow Securities, provided that the holders of at least half of the applicable Securities that are not subject to any voluntary escrow deed, and to which the offers under the bid relate, have accepted the bid; or
 - the transfer or cancellation of the Voluntary Escrow Securities in the Company as part of a scheme of arrangement under Part 5.1 of the Corporations Act, provided that the scheme of arrangement has received all necessary approvals, including all such necessary court and shareholder approvals, provided,

in each case, that if for any reason any or all Voluntary Escrow Securities are not transferred or cancelled in accordance with such a Takeover Bid or scheme of arrangement (including because the Takeover Bid does not become unconditional), then the Holder agrees that the restrictions applying to the Voluntary Escrow Securities under this deed will continue to apply and without limiting the foregoing, the Holding Lock will be reapplied to all Voluntary Escrow Securities not so transferred or cancelled. For the avoidance of doubt, the

Controller can make a Dealing if required to enable the Holder to take any of the actions in this clause 5(a).

- (b) Notwithstanding any condition to the contrary in this deed, during the Escrow Period, the Holder or Controller may transfer (in one or more transactions) any or all Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) to an Affiliate or an Affiliated Fund of the Holder or Controller (as applicable) provided:
 - such Affiliate or Affiliated Fund agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions of this deed by entering into such further agreements as the Company may reasonably require (provided that the Company may not require any change to the remaining duration of the restrictions in clause 3 or to the nature of those restrictions); and
 - (ii) the transfer does not result in a change to the beneficial ownership of the Voluntary Escrow Securities.
- (c) Notwithstanding any condition to the contrary in this deed, during the Escrow Period, the Holder or Controller may encumber any (or all) of its Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) to a bona fide third party financial institution (Financial Institution) as security for a loan, hedge or other financial accommodation provided that:
 - the encumbrance does not in any way constitute a direct or indirect disposal of the economic interests, or decrease an economic interest, that the Holder or Controller (as applicable) has in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable); and
 - (ii) no Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) are to be transferred or delivered to the Financial Institution or any other person in connection with the encumbrance. Any agreement with a Financial Institution must provide that the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) are to remain in escrow and subject to the terms of this deed as if the Financial Institution were a party to this deed.
- (d) During the Escrow Period, the Holder may Deal in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities to the extent the Dealing is required by applicable law (including an order of a court of competent jurisdiction), provided that any recipient of the Voluntary Escrow Securities will no longer be bound by any Holding Lock or restrictions on Dealing.
- (e) Notwithstanding any condition to the contrary in this deed, during the Escrow Period, the Holder or Controller may Deal in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests upon the death or incapacity of the Holder or Controller, provided that the transferee will no longer be bound by any Holding Lock or restrictions on Dealing in respect of the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable).
- (f) During the Escrow Period, the Holder may Deal in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities if the Dealing is an exercise of an Option in accordance with the terms of an equity incentive scheme. Any Shares issued on such exercise will be subject to the same restrictions under this Deed applying to the exercised Options.

5.2 Notice

If the Holder or Controller becomes aware:

- (a) that a Dealing in any Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) has occurred, or is likely to occur, during the Escrow Period; or
- (b) of any matter which is likely to give rise to a Dealing in any Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) during the Escrow Period,

it must notify the Company as soon as practicable after becoming aware of the Dealing or the matters giving rise to the Dealing, providing full details.

6 Warranties

6.1 Giving of warranties

Each of the warranties and representations in this clause 6 is given in favour of the Company:

- (a) as at the date of this deed; and
- (b) at all times until expiry of the Escrow Period.

The warranties and representations in this clause 6 are given in respect of any and all Voluntary Escrow Securities which the Holder holds and any and all Controller Interests which the Controller holds from time to time during the Escrow Period, including as a result of a permitted Dealing in accordance with clause 5 (**Exceptions**).

6.2 Warranties of Holder and Controller

Each of the Holder and each Controller jointly and severally warrants and represents the following with respect to themselves:

- (a) it has full power and authority, without the consent of any other person, to enter into and perform its obligations under this deed (including, if the Holder or Controller (as applicable) has entered into this deed as a trustee (**Trustee**), under the trust deed for the relevant trust (**Trust**));
- (b) it has taken all necessary action to authorise the execution, delivery and performance of this deed in accordance with its terms;
- (c) this deed constitutes legal, valid and binding obligations and, subject to any necessary stamping and registration, is enforceable in accordance with its terms;
- (d) the execution, delivery and performance by the Holder and each Controller (as applicable) of this deed does not and will not violate, breach or result in a contravention of:
 - (i) any applicable law, regulation or authorisation;
 - (ii) its constitution or other constituent documents (or, if the Holder or Controller (as applicable)] is a Trustee, the trust deed for the Trust); or
 - (iii) any agreement, undertaking, encumbrance or document which is binding on that party.

- (e) before the Escrow Period begins, it has not done, or omitted to do, any act which would breach clause 3 (Escrow restrictions) if done or omitted to be done during the Escrow Period or taken any other action which will cause it to breach clause 3 (Escrow restrictions) during the Escrow Period;
- (f) no person has, or will have immediately following Completion, any economic or beneficial interest in the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) other than the Holder or the Controllers and the underlying beneficial owners of the Controller;
- (g) no person (other than the Holder or a Controller) has the power to direct or cause the direction of the management of the Holder or Controller (as applicable), whether through the ownership of voting securities or by agreement or by virtue of any person being the manager or adviser of the Holder or a Controller (as applicable) or otherwise;
- (h) immediately following Completion, the Holder will hold the Voluntary Escrow Securities and each Controller will hold the Controller Interests as set out in Schedule 2 (Details);
- the Holder and Controllers have not granted any encumbrances or any interests or rights to third parties in respect of the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable), and will not do so during the Escrow Period (other than permitted by this deed), such that the Voluntary Escrow Securities and Controller Interests are free from all encumbrances and other third party interests or rights (other than where permitted by this deed);
- (j) except for Shares held by Clontarf Investments Pty Ltd (ACN 164 546 776) as trustee for Yaki Family Trust and Shares acquired under the Initial Public Offer at the Offer Price (if any), the Voluntary Escrow Securities and Controller Interests (as applicable) will, immediately following Completion, be all of the securities, economic interests or other interests that the Holder or Controller (as applicable) directly or indirectly has in the Company; and
- (k) if the Holder or a Controller (as applicable) is a Trustee:
 - the Trustee is the sole trustee of the Trust and, to the best of its knowledge and belief, there is no proposal to remove or replace it as trustee of the Trust;
 - (ii) the Holder or Controller (as applicable) has the right to be fully indemnified out of the assets of the Trust in respect of any liability arising under, or in connection with, this deed and the right has not been modified, released or diminished in any way. The assets of the Trust are sufficient to satisfy that right in full and the Holder or Controller (as applicable) has not released or disposed of its equitable lien over that trust; and
 - (iii) the Trust has not been terminated and there is no effective proposal or requirement to wind up, deregister, terminate, reconstitute or resettle the Trust.

6.3 Breach of warranties

A breach of any of the warranties and representations in this clause 6 is a breach of the terms of this deed.

6.4 Survival of warranties and representations

The warranties and representations in this clause 6 survive termination of this deed.

7 Permitted dealings with the Voluntary Escrow Securities

Except as expressly provided for in clause 3 (**Escrow restrictions**), nothing in this deed restricts the Holder or a Controller from dealing with the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) or exercising rights attaching to, or afforded to the holder of, the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable), including (without limitation) by:

- (a) exercising any voting rights attaching to Voluntary Escrow Securities;
- (b) receiving or being entitled to any dividend, return of capital or other distribution attaching to Voluntary Escrow Securities; or
- (c) receiving or participating in any rights or bonus issue in connection with the Voluntary Escrow Securities.

8 Consequences of breach

- (a) If the Holder or Controller breaches this deed, each of the following applies:
 - (i) the Company may take any steps that it considers necessary to enforce this deed and/or rectify the breach; and
 - the Company may refuse to acknowledge, deal with, accept or register any sale, assignment, transfer or conversion of any of the Voluntary Escrow Securities. This is in addition and without prejudice to other rights and remedies of the Company.
- (b) The parties agree that damages would be an insufficient remedy for breach of clause 3 and the Holder and each of the Controllers agree that the Company is entitled to seek and obtain an injunction or specific performance to enforce the Holder's and the Controllers' obligations under clause 3 (Escrow restrictions) without proof of actual damage and without prejudice to any of its other rights or remedies.

9 Amendment

Subject to clause 13 (**Company to complete Schedule 2**), this deed can only be amended or replaced by another deed executed by the parties.

10 Termination

This deed terminates automatically if:

- (a) the Company withdraws the Initial Public Offer;
- (b) the Company is not admitted to the official list of ASX by 31 December 2020; or

(c) otherwise when the Holding Lock is released in full in respect of all Voluntary Escrow Securities and Controller Interests.

11 Capacity

If the Holder or Controller has entered into this deed as a trustee:

- (a) notwithstanding any other provision of this deed including any provision expressed to prevail over this clause 11 and subject to clause 11(c), the Holder or Controller (as applicable) enters into this deed only in its capacity as trustee of the relevant trust and in no other capacity. A liability arising under or in connection with this deed can be enforced against the Holder or Controller (as applicable) only to the extent which it can be satisfied out of the property of the relevant trust for which the Holder or Controller (as applicable) is actually indemnified for the liability. The Holder or Controller (as applicable) will exercise its rights of indemnification in order to satisfy its obligations under this deed;
- (b) subject to clause 11(c), a party to this deed may not sue the Holder or Controller (as applicable) in any capacity other than as trustee in respect of the relevant trust, including seeking the appointment to the Holder or Controller (as applicable) of a receiver (except in relation to property of the relevant trust), a liquidator, administrator or any similar person; and
- (c) the provisions of this clause 11 will not apply to any obligation or liability of the Holder or Controller (as applicable) to the extent that it is not satisfied because under the relevant trust deed or by operation of law, there is a reduction in the extent to which the Holder or Controller (as applicable) is entitled to exercise its right of indemnification out of the assets of the relevant trust, or the right does not exist at all, as a result of the Holder's or Controller's (as applicable) fraud, negligence, improper performance of duties or breach of trust.

12 Release of results

The Company agrees to release its:

- (a) full year financial results for the period ending 30 June 2021; and
- (b) half year financial results for the period ending 31 December 2021,

in accordance with the timeframes required by the Corporations Act and ASX Listing Rules.

13 Company to complete Schedule 2

Each party authorises the Company (or any person delegated such authority in writing by the Company) to insert in Schedule 2 (**Details**), after execution of this deed by each party:

- (a) the particulars of Voluntary Escrow Securities in item 5 of Schedule 2 (**Details**); and
- (b) any other details necessary to complete Schedule 2 (**Details**).
14 Notices

14.1 General

- (a) Unless expressly stated otherwise in this deed and subject to clause 14.2 (Notices sent by email) a notice, consent or other communication given under this deed including, but not limited to, a request, certificate, demand, consent, waiver or approval, to or by a party to this deed (Notice):
 - (i) must be in legible writing and in English;
 - (ii) must be addressed to the party to whom it is to be given (Addressee) at the address or email address set out in Schedule 2 (Details) or to any other address or email address a party notifies to the other under this clause;
 - (iii) must be signed by or on behalf of the sender (if an individual) or an Officer of the sender;
 - (iv) must be either:
 - (A) delivered by hand or sent by pre-paid mail (by airmail if sent to or from a place outside of Australia) to the Addressee; or
 - (B) sent by email to the Addressee's email address; and
 - (v) is deemed to be received by the Addressee in accordance with clause 14.1(c).
- (b) If:
 - a party changes its address and fails to notify the other party (or parties, as applicable) of this change and the new address, delivery of Notices marked to the attention of the Addressee at that new address is deemed compliant with the notice obligations under this clause;
 - (ii) an individual named in clause 14.1 ceases to work in the role specified or ceases to work for the Addressee and the Addressee fails to notify the other party (or parties, as applicable) of an alternative individual, delivery of notices marked to the attention of an individual in the same or equivalent role at that party is deemed compliant with the notice obligations under this clause; and/or
 - (iii) an individual associated with an email address listed in clause 14.1 ceases to work for the Addressee and the Addressee fails to notify the other party (or parties, as applicable) of an alternative email address, notices sent by email to a manager or equivalent level personnel at that party is deemed compliant with the notice obligations under this clause.
- (c) Without limiting any other means by which the sender may be able to prove that a Notice has been received by the Addressee, a Notice is deemed to be received:
 - (i) if sent by hand, when delivered to the Addressee;
 - (ii) if sent by post, on the 6th Business Day after the date of posting, or if to or from a place outside Australia, on the 10th Business Day after the date of posting; or

- (iii) if sent by email:
 - (A) when the sender receives an automated message confirming delivery; or
 - (B) 30 minutes after the time sent (as recorded on the device from which the sender sent the email) unless the sender receives an automated message that the email has not been delivered,

whichever happens first,

but if the delivery or receipt is on a day which is not a Business Day or is after 5.00pm (Addressee's time), it is deemed to be received at 9.00am on the following Business Day.

14.2 Notices sent by email

Notices sent by email need not be marked for attention in the way stated in clause 14.1. However, the email:

- (a) must be sent to the email address set out in Schedule 2 (**Details**) (or to any other email address a party notifies to the other under this clause; and
- (b) must state the first and last name of the sender.

Notices sent by email are taken to be signed by the named sender.

15 General

15.1 Choice of law (Governing law)

This deed is governed by the laws of New South Wales, Australia.

15.2 Choice of jurisdiction

Each party irrevocable and unconditionally submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of New South Wales, Australia, including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Federal Court of Australia sitting in New South Wales, Australia.

15.3 Further assurances

Except as expressly provided in this deed, each party must, at its own expense, do all things reasonably necessary to give full effect to this deed and the matters contemplated by it.

15.4 Counterparts

This deed may be executed in any number of counterparts and signatures on behalf of a party may be on different counterparts.

15.5 Time of essence

Time is of the essence to this deed.

15.6 Waiver

- (a) No waiver of a right or remedy under this deed is effective unless it is in writing and signed by the party granting it. It is only effective in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which it is granted.
- (b) A single or partial exercise of a right or remedy under this deed does not prevent a further exercise of that or of any other right or remedy.
- (c) Failure to exercise or delay in exercising a right or remedy under this deed does not operate as a waiver or prevent further exercise of that or any other right or remedy.

15.7 Severability

Any term of this deed which is wholly or partially void or unenforceable is severed to the extent that it is void or unenforceable. The validity or enforceability of the remainder of this deed is not affected.

Schedule 1 Dictionary

1 Dictionary

The following definitions apply in this deed.

Affiliate means any Related Body Corporate.

Affiliated Fund means each corporation, trust, limited liability company, general or limited partnership or other entity under common control with the Holder or Controller (as applicable) or that receives investment advice from the investment adviser to the Holder or Controller (as applicable) or any of their Affiliates or an investment adviser Affiliated with such investment adviser.

ASX means ASX Limited (ACN 008 624 691) or the financial market operated by it, as the context requires.

ASX Listing Rules means the listing rules of ASX.

ASX Settlement Operating Rules means the settlement operating rules of ASX Settlement Pty Ltd (ACN 008 504 532).

Business Day means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on which banks are open for general banking business in New South Wales, Australia.

Company means Cashrewards Group Limited (ACN 615 084 654) (to be renamed "Cashrewards Limited").

Completion means the issue and transfer and allotment of the Shares the subject of the Initial Public Offer.

Controllers means each person named in item 3 of Schedule 2 (**Details**) and **Controller** means any one of those persons.

Controller Interests means the securities, economic interests or other interests in the Voluntary Escrow Securities (for the duration of the Escrow Period) in which the Controller has a direct or indirect interest and each intermediate entity through which that interest occurs, full particulars of which are set out in item 6 of Schedule 2 (**Details**).

Corporations Act means Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Dealing, in respect of any Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interest, means to directly or indirectly:

- (a) sell, assign, transfer or otherwise Dispose of any legal, beneficial or economic interest in such Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable);
- (b) encumber or grant a security interest over such Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable) or any legal, beneficial or economic interest in that Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable);
- (c) grant or exercise an option in respect of such Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable);

- (d) do, or omit to do, any act if the act or omission would have the effect of transferring, whether directly or indirectly, effective ownership or control of, or any legal, beneficial or economic interest in, such Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable); or
- (e) agree to do any of those things,

and **Deal** has a corresponding meaning.

Dispose has the meaning given in the ASX Listing Rules.

Escrow Period means the period for which the Voluntary Escrow Securities are escrowed as set out in item 4 of Schedule 2 (**Details**).

Financial Institution has the meaning given to that term in clause 5(c).

First Escrow Period means the period for which the Tranche 1 Securities are escrowed as set out in item 4 of Schedule 2 (**Details**).

GST Law has the meaning given to it in the *A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999* (Cth).

Holding Lock has the meaning given to that term in section 2 of the ASX Settlement Operating Rules.

Initial Public Offer means the proposed initial public offering of Shares by the Company and by SaleCo.

Issue Date means, in relation to a Security, the date the Security is issued.

Issuer Sponsored Subregister has the meaning given to that term in section 2 of the ASX Settlement Operating Rules.

Offer Price has the meaning given in the Prospectus.

Option means an option to acquire a Share.

Prospectus means the prospectus to be issued by the Company and SaleCo in connection with the Initial Public Offer.

SaleCo means Cashrewards SaleCo Limited (ACN 644 956 383).

Second Escrow Period means the period for which the Tranche 2 Securities are escrowed as set out in item 4 of Schedule 2 (**Details**).

Security means a Share (including a Share issued on exercise of an Option) or an Option and a reference to **Securities** includes any combination of Shares and Options.

Share means a fully paid ordinary share in the capital of the Company.

Takeover Bid has the meaning given in the Corporations Act and includes a proportional takeover bid.

Tranche 1 Securities means the Securities set out in item 5 of Schedule 2 (**Details**) in the row titled "Tranche 1 Securities".

Tranche 2 Securities means the Securities set out in item 5 of Schedule 2 (**Details**) in the row titled "Tranche 2 Securities".

Trust has the meaning given in clause 6.2(a).

Trustee has the meaning given in clause 6.2(a).

Voluntary Escrow Securities means:

- (a) in relation to a Holder, the Securities specified in item 5 of Schedule 2 (**Details**); and
- (b) any securities attaching to or arising out of those Securities including any Shares issued on the exercise of Options.

2 Interpretation

In this deed the following rules of interpretation apply unless the contrary intention appears:

- (a) headings are for convenience only and do not affect the interpretation of this deed;
- (b) the singular includes the plural and vice versa;
- (c) words that are gender neutral or gender specific include each gender;
- (d) where a word or phrase is given a particular meaning, other parts of speech and grammatical forms of that word or phrase have corresponding meanings;
- (e) the words 'such as', 'including', 'particularly' and similar expressions are not words of limitation;
- (f) a reference to:
 - (i) a person includes a natural person, partnership, joint venture, government agency, association, corporation, trust or other body corporate;
 - (ii) a thing (including but not limited to a chose in action or other right) includes a part of that thing;
 - (iii) a party includes its agents, successors and permitted assigns;
 - (iv) a document includes all amendments or supplements to that document;
 - (v) a clause, term, party, schedule or attachment is a reference to a clause or term of, or party, schedule or attachment to this deed;
 - (vi) this deed includes all schedules and attachments to it;
 - (vii) a law includes a constitutional provision, treaty, decree, convention, statute, regulation, ordinance, by-law, judgment, rule of common law or equity or a rule of an applicable financial market and is a reference to that law as amended, consolidated or replaced;
 - (viii) a statute includes any regulation, ordinance, by-law or other subordinate legislation under it;

- (ix) an agreement other than this deed includes an undertaking, or legally enforceable arrangement or understanding whether or not in writing; and
- (x) a monetary amount is in Australian dollars and all amounts payable under or in connection with this deed are payable in Australian dollars;
- (g) unless otherwise specified in this deed, an agreement on the part of two or more persons binds them severally and not jointly;
- (h) no rule of construction applies to the disadvantage of a party because that party was responsible for the preparation of this deed or any part of it;
- (i) when the day on which something must be done is not a Business Day, that thing must be done on the following Business Day;
- (j) in determining the time of day where relevant to this deed, the relevant time of day is:
 - (i) for the purposes of giving or receiving notices, the time of day where a party receiving a notice is located; or
 - (ii) for any other purpose under this deed, the time of day in the place where the party required to perform an obligation is located;
- (k) a day is the period of time commencing at midnight and ending immediately before the next midnight is to occur;
- (I) if a period of time is calculated from a particular day, act or event (such as the giving of a notice), unless otherwise stated in this deed, it is to be calculated exclusive of that day, or the day of that act or event; and
- (m) where no Controller is named in item 3 of Schedule 2 (Details), then references in this deed to Controller, Controllers and Controller Interests may be disregarded when applying the terms and conditions of this deed.

3 Compliance with ASX Listing Rules

During the Escrow Period, and for so long as the Company is listed on the ASX:

- (a) notwithstanding anything contained in this deed, if the ASX Listing Rules prohibit an act being done, that act must not be done;
- (b) nothing contained in this deed prevents an act being done that the ASX Listing Rules require to be done;
- (c) if the ASX Listing Rules require an act to be done or not to be done, authority is given for that act to be done or not to be done (as the case may be);
- (d) if the ASX Listing Rules require this deed to contain a provision and it does not contain such a provision, this deed is deemed to contain that provision;
- (e) if the ASX Listing Rules require this deed not to contain a provision and it contains such a provision, this deed is deemed not to contain that provision; and
- (f) if any provision of this deed is or becomes inconsistent with the ASX Listing Rules, this deed is deemed not to contain that provision to the extent of the inconsistency.

Schedule 2 Details

1 Company

Cashrewards Group Limited (ABN 95 615 084 654) (to be renamed "Cashrewards Limited") of Suite 306, Level 3, 815 Pacific Highway Chatswood NSW 2067 with email address retief.lampen@cashrewards.com to the attention of Retief Lampen.

2 Holder

Dempsey Capital Pty Limited ACN 632 685 468 ATF Alium Alpha Fund of Suite 201, 139 Macquarie Street, Sydney NSW 2000 with email address rg@aliumcap.com to the attention of Rajeev Gupta.

3 Controller(s)

Controller	Address and other notice details
(Controller 1): Rajeev Gupta	Address: 2A Peronne Avenue, Clontarf NSW 2093
	Email: rg@aliumcap.com
	Attention: Rajeev Gupta
(Controller 2): Jason Benjamin Rich	Address: 26A Coronation Avenue, Mosman NSW 2088
	Email:
	Attention: Jason Benjamin Rich
(Controller 3): Michael Patrick Considine	Address: 23 Cliff Street, Watsons Bay NSW 2030
	Email:
	Attention: Michael Patrick Considine

4 Escrow Period

In relation to:

- (a) the First Escrow Period, the period commencing immediately following Completion and ending at 10.00am on the next trading day after the date that the Company has released to the ASX its preliminary final report (being the Company's Appendix 4E) for the financial year ending 30 June 2021; and
- (b) the Second Escrow Period, the period commencing immediately following Completion and ending at 10.00am on the next trading day after the date that the

Company has released to the ASX its preliminary half-year financial statements (being the Company's Appendix 4D) for the half year ended 31 December 2021.

5 Particulars of Voluntary Escrow Securities

Tranche 1 Securities	All of the Securities in the Company held by the Holder immediately following Completion other than Shares acquired under the Initial Public Offer at the Offer Price (if any).
Tranche 2 Securities	50% of the Tranche 1 Securities.

6 Particulars of Controller Interests

Controller	Particulars of Controller Interests
Rajeev Gupta (Controller 1)	Manager of the Alium Fund.
	Power to exercise, or control the exercise of, a right to vote attached to the Escrowed Securities.
	Power to dispose of, or control the exercise of a power to dispose of, the Escrowed Securities.
Jason Benjamin Rich (Controller 2)	Manager of the Alium Fund.
	Power to exercise, or control the exercise of, a right to vote attached to the Escrowed Securities.
	Power to dispose of, or control the exercise of a power to dispose of, the Escrowed Securities.
Michael Patrick Considine (Controller 3)	Manager of the Alium Fund.
	Power to exercise, or control the exercise of, a right to vote attached to the Escrowed Securities.
	Power to dispose of, or control the exercise of a power to dispose of, the Escrowed Securities.

Execution page

Executed as a deed.

Signed, sealed and delivered by **Cashrewards Group Limited (ACN 615 084 654)** in accordance with section 127 of the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth) by:

Signature of director

Bernard Wilson

Name of director (print)

Signature of director/secretary

Retief Lampen

Name of director/secretary (print)

Executed as a deed.

Signed, sealed and delivered by **Dempsey Capital Pty Limited (ACN 632 685 468) ATF Alium Alpha Fund** in accordance with section 127 of the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth) by:

Signature of director

JBRil

Signature of director/secretary

Jason Rich

Name of director (print)

Michael Considine

Name of director/secretary (print)

Signed, sealed and delivered by **Rajeev Gupta** in the presence of:

Signature of witness

Signature of Rajeev Gupta

Timothy Bolger

Name of witness (print)

Signed, sealed and delivered by **Jason Benjamin Rich** in the presence of:

Signature of witness

gible

Signature of Jason Benjamin Rich

Timothy Bolger

Signed, sealed and delivered by **Michael Patrick Considine** in the presence of:

Signature of Michael Patrick Considine

Signature of witness

Timothy Bolger

Name of witness (print)



Voluntary escrow deed

Cashrewards Group Limited (ACN 615 084 654) The Holder(s) named in item 1 of Schedule 2 The Controller(s) named in item 2 of Schedule 2

Contents		Page
1	Defined terms and interpretation	1
	1.1 Definitions in the Dictionary	1
	1.2 Interpretation	1
2	Condition precedent	1
3	Escrow restrictions	2
	3.1 Voluntary Escrow Securities	2
	3.2 Controller Interests	2
4	Holding Lock	2
	4.1 Agreement to Holding Lock	2
	4.2 Application of Holding Lock	2
	4.3 Removal of Holding Lock	2
	4.4 Acknowledgements	3
5	Exceptions	3
	5.2 Notice	5
6	Warranties	5
	6.1 Giving of warranties	5
	6.2 Warranties of Holder and Controller	5
	6.3 Breach of warranties	6
	6.4 Survival of warranties and representations	7
7	Permitted dealings with the Voluntary Escrow Securities	7
8	Consequences of breach	7
9	Amendment	7
10	Termination	7
11	Capacity	8
12	Release of results	8
13	Company to complete Schedule 2	8
14	Notices	9
	14.1 General	9

14	1.2	Notices sent by email	10
15 Ge	5 General		
15	5.1	Choice of law (Governing law)	10
15	5.2	Choice of jurisdiction	10
15	5.3	Further assurances	10
15	5.4	Counterparts	10
15	5.5	Time of essence	10
15	5.6	Waiver	11
15	5.7	Severability	11
Schedule	e 1	Dictionary	12
Schedul	e 2	Details	16
Execution page		18	

Parties

- 1 The person named in item 1 of Schedule 2 (Details) (Company)
- 2 The person named in item 2 of Schedule 2 (Details) (Holder)
- 3 The person(s) named in item 3 of Schedule 2 (Details) (Controllers and each a Controller)

Background

- A The Company intends to be admitted to the official list of ASX and proposes to issue Shares pursuant to the Initial Public Offer.
- B The Holder holds or will hold the Voluntary Escrow Securities on or around Completion.
- C The Holder agrees to escrow the Voluntary Escrow Securities for the Escrow Period pursuant to the terms of this deed on the basis that the Company will take the steps necessary to be admitted to the official list of ASX.
- D To the extent that there are any Controllers named in item 3 of Schedule 2 (**Details**), each Controller undertakes to the Company to hold the Controller Interests pursuant to the terms of this deed on the basis that the Company will take the steps necessary to be admitted to the official list of ASX.

The parties agree

1 Defined terms and interpretation

1.1 Definitions in the Dictionary

Other than as expressly provided or where the context makes it clear that the following rule is not intended to apply, a term or expression starting with a capital letter:

- (a) which is defined in the Dictionary in Schedule 1 (**Dictionary**), has the meaning given to it in the Dictionary;
- (b) which is defined in the Corporations Act, but is not defined in the Dictionary, has the meaning given to it in the Corporations Act; and
- (c) which is defined in the GST Law, but is not defined in the Dictionary or the Corporations Act, has the meaning given to it in the GST Law.

1.2 Interpretation

The interpretation clause in Schedule 1 (**Dictionary**) sets out rules of interpretation for this deed.

2 Condition precedent

(a) The respective rights and obligations of the parties under this deed are conditional upon Completion occurring and the Holder holding Voluntary Escrow Securities immediately following Completion.

(b) If the condition precedent in clause 2(a), or if Completion does not occur, in either case by 31 December 2020, this deed will terminate with immediate effect.

3 Escrow restrictions

3.1 Voluntary Escrow Securities

Subject to clause 5 (Exceptions):

- (a) during the First Escrow Period, the Holder must not Deal in the Tranche 1 Securities; and
- (b) during the Second Escrow Period, the Holder must not Deal in the Tranche 2 Securities.

3.2 Controller Interests

Subject to clause 5 (**Exceptions**), during the Escrow Period, the Controller must not Deal in the Controller Interests.

4 Holding Lock

4.1 Agreement to Holding Lock

Subject to clause 4.2 (**Application of Holding Lock**), the Holder agrees to the application of a Holding Lock to the Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Shares, and agrees to take all necessary steps to ensure that its Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Shares are registered and held for the Holder on the Issuer Sponsored Subregister whilst any restrictions under clause 3 (**Escrow restrictions**) apply to those Voluntary Escrow Securities.

4.2 Application of Holding Lock

The Company will apply a Holding Lock to the Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Shares upon Completion (or on the Issue Date for any Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Shares and are issued after Completion) and may only remove the Holding Lock with respect to the Voluntary Escrow Securities if permitted under clause 4.3 (**Removal of Holding Lock**).

4.3 Removal of Holding Lock

- (a) Upon request by the Holder or, where applicable, a Controller, the Company must promptly remove the Holding Lock with respect to the Voluntary Escrow Securities to the extent necessary to facilitate a Dealing that is permitted under clause 5 (Exceptions).
- (b) The Company must remove the Holding Lock with respect to the Voluntary Escrow Securities on the Business Day after the end of the relevant Escrow Period.
- (c) The Company must notify ASX that the Voluntary Escrow Securities will be released from the Holding Lock in accordance with the timing requirements set out in ASX Listing Rule 3.10A.

4.4 Acknowledgements

The parties acknowledge and agree that, in respect of any Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Options, the Company will:

- (a) inform its share registry of the restrictions applying to those Options contained in this deed;
- (b) include, or will procure its share registry to include, a restrictive legend on the relevant Option certificates reflecting the restrictions contained in this deed in the following terms (or on such other terms as the Company deems appropriate having regard to the need to put potential purchasers on notice of the restrictions in this deed):

"THE OPTIONS COMPRISED HEREIN ARE SUBJECT TO RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER UNDER AN ESCROW ARRANGEMENT AND AS SUCH, MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED UNTIL AFTER [insert end date of escrow period], OTHER THAN IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THAT ARRANGEMENT."

- (c) the Company will to the extent necessary to permit Dealings of the Voluntary Escrow Securities permitted by this deed and at the conclusion of the relevant Escrow Period:
 - (i) promptly inform its share registry of those circumstances4.4(a);
 - (ii) issue new certificates for such Options omitting the restrictive legend referred to in clause 4.4(b);
 - (iii) notify ASX that those Voluntary Escrow Securities will be released from the above arrangements, in accordance with the timing requirements set out in Listing Rule 3.10A.

5 **Exceptions**

- (a) During the Escrow Period, the Holder may Deal in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities and a Controller may Deal in its Controller Interests if the Dealing arises solely as a result of:
 - (i) the acceptance a bona fide third party offer under a Takeover Bid in relation to those Voluntary Escrow Securities, provided that the holders of at least half of the applicable Securities that are not subject to any voluntary escrow deed, and to which the offers under the bid relate, have accepted the bid; or
 - the transfer or cancellation of the Voluntary Escrow Securities in the Company as part of a scheme of arrangement under Part 5.1 of the Corporations Act, provided that the scheme of arrangement has received all necessary approvals, including all such necessary court and shareholder approvals, provided,

in each case, that if for any reason any or all Voluntary Escrow Securities are not transferred or cancelled in accordance with such a Takeover Bid or scheme of arrangement (including because the Takeover Bid does not become unconditional), then the Holder agrees that the restrictions applying to the Voluntary Escrow Securities under this deed will continue to apply and without limiting the foregoing, the Holding Lock will be reapplied to all Voluntary Escrow Securities not so transferred or cancelled. For the avoidance of doubt, the

Controller can make a Dealing if required to enable the Holder to take any of the actions in this clause 5(a).

- (b) Notwithstanding any condition to the contrary in this deed, during the Escrow Period, the Holder or Controller may transfer (in one or more transactions) any or all Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) to an Affiliate or an Affiliated Fund of the Holder or Controller (as applicable) provided:
 - such Affiliate or Affiliated Fund agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions of this deed by entering into such further agreements as the Company may reasonably require (provided that the Company may not require any change to the remaining duration of the restrictions in clause 3 or to the nature of those restrictions); and
 - (ii) the transfer does not result in a change to the beneficial ownership of the Voluntary Escrow Securities.
- (c) Notwithstanding any condition to the contrary in this deed, during the Escrow Period, the Holder or Controller may encumber any (or all) of its Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) to a bona fide third party financial institution (Financial Institution) as security for a loan, hedge or other financial accommodation provided that:
 - the encumbrance does not in any way constitute a direct or indirect disposal of the economic interests, or decrease an economic interest, that the Holder or Controller (as applicable) has in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable); and
 - (ii) no Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) are to be transferred or delivered to the Financial Institution or any other person in connection with the encumbrance. Any agreement with a Financial Institution must provide that the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) are to remain in escrow and subject to the terms of this deed as if the Financial Institution were a party to this deed.
- (d) During the Escrow Period, the Holder may Deal in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities to the extent the Dealing is required by applicable law (including an order of a court of competent jurisdiction), provided that any recipient of the Voluntary Escrow Securities will no longer be bound by any Holding Lock or restrictions on Dealing.
- (e) Notwithstanding any condition to the contrary in this deed, during the Escrow Period, the Holder or Controller may Deal in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests upon the death or incapacity of the Holder or Controller, provided that the transferee will no longer be bound by any Holding Lock or restrictions on Dealing in respect of the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable).
- (f) During the Escrow Period, the Holder may Deal in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities if the Dealing is an exercise of an Option in accordance with the terms of an equity incentive scheme. Any Shares issued on such exercise will be subject to the same restrictions under this Deed applying to the exercised Options.

5.2 Notice

If the Holder or Controller becomes aware:

- (a) that a Dealing in any Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) has occurred, or is likely to occur, during the Escrow Period; or
- (b) of any matter which is likely to give rise to a Dealing in any Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) during the Escrow Period,

it must notify the Company as soon as practicable after becoming aware of the Dealing or the matters giving rise to the Dealing, providing full details.

6 Warranties

6.1 Giving of warranties

Each of the warranties and representations in this clause 6 is given in favour of the Company:

- (a) as at the date of this deed; and
- (b) at all times until expiry of the Escrow Period.

The warranties and representations in this clause 6 are given in respect of any and all Voluntary Escrow Securities which the Holder holds and any and all Controller Interests which the Controller holds from time to time during the Escrow Period, including as a result of a permitted Dealing in accordance with clause 5 (**Exceptions**).

6.2 Warranties of Holder and Controller

Each of the Holder and each Controller jointly and severally warrants and represents the following with respect to themselves:

- (a) it has full power and authority, without the consent of any other person, to enter into and perform its obligations under this deed (including, if the Holder or Controller (as applicable) has entered into this deed as a trustee (**Trustee**), under the trust deed for the relevant trust (**Trust**));
- (b) it has taken all necessary action to authorise the execution, delivery and performance of this deed in accordance with its terms;
- (c) this deed constitutes legal, valid and binding obligations and, subject to any necessary stamping and registration, is enforceable in accordance with its terms;
- (d) the execution, delivery and performance by the Holder and each Controller (as applicable) of this deed does not and will not violate, breach or result in a contravention of:
 - (i) any applicable law, regulation or authorisation;
 - (ii) its constitution or other constituent documents (or, if the Holder or Controller (as applicable)] is a Trustee, the trust deed for the Trust); or
 - (iii) any agreement, undertaking, encumbrance or document which is binding on that party.

- (e) before the Escrow Period begins, it has not done, or omitted to do, any act which would breach clause 3 (Escrow restrictions) if done or omitted to be done during the Escrow Period or taken any other action which will cause it to breach clause 3 (Escrow restrictions) during the Escrow Period;
- (f) no person has, or will have immediately following Completion, any economic or beneficial interest in the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) other than the Holder or the Controllers and the underlying beneficial owners of the Controller;
- (g) no person (other than the Holder or a Controller) has the power to direct or cause the direction of the management of the Holder or Controller (as applicable), whether through the ownership of voting securities or by agreement or by virtue of any person being the manager or adviser of the Holder or a Controller (as applicable) or otherwise;
- (h) immediately following Completion, the Holder will hold the Voluntary Escrow Securities and each Controller will hold the Controller Interests as set out in Schedule 2 (Details);
- the Holder and Controllers have not granted any encumbrances or any interests or rights to third parties in respect of the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable), and will not do so during the Escrow Period (other than permitted by this deed), such that the Voluntary Escrow Securities and Controller Interests are free from all encumbrances and other third party interests or rights (other than where permitted by this deed);
- (j) except for Shares held by Dempsey Capital Pty Limited (ACN 632 685 468) as trustee for Alium Alpha Fund and other than Shares acquired under the Initial Public Offer at the Offer Price (if any), the Voluntary Escrow Securities and Controller Interests (as applicable) will, immediately following Completion, be all of the securities, economic interests or other interests that the Holder or Controller (as applicable) directly or indirectly has in the Company; and
- (k) if the Holder or a Controller (as applicable) is a Trustee:
 - the Trustee is the sole trustee of the Trust and, to the best of its knowledge and belief, there is no proposal to remove or replace it as trustee of the Trust;
 - (ii) the Holder or Controller (as applicable) has the right to be fully indemnified out of the assets of the Trust in respect of any liability arising under, or in connection with, this deed and the right has not been modified, released or diminished in any way. The assets of the Trust are sufficient to satisfy that right in full and the Holder or Controller (as applicable) has not released or disposed of its equitable lien over that trust; and
 - (iii) the Trust has not been terminated and there is no effective proposal or requirement to wind up, deregister, terminate, reconstitute or resettle the Trust.

6.3 Breach of warranties

A breach of any of the warranties and representations in this clause 6 is a breach of the terms of this deed.

6.4 Survival of warranties and representations

The warranties and representations in this clause 6 survive termination of this deed.

7 Permitted dealings with the Voluntary Escrow Securities

Except as expressly provided for in clause 3 (**Escrow restrictions**), nothing in this deed restricts the Holder or a Controller from dealing with the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) or exercising rights attaching to, or afforded to the holder of, the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable), including (without limitation) by:

- (a) exercising any voting rights attaching to Voluntary Escrow Securities;
- (b) receiving or being entitled to any dividend, return of capital or other distribution attaching to Voluntary Escrow Securities; or
- (c) receiving or participating in any rights or bonus issue in connection with the Voluntary Escrow Securities.

8 Consequences of breach

- (a) If the Holder or Controller breaches this deed, each of the following applies:
 - (i) the Company may take any steps that it considers necessary to enforce this deed and/or rectify the breach; and
 - the Company may refuse to acknowledge, deal with, accept or register any sale, assignment, transfer or conversion of any of the Voluntary Escrow Securities. This is in addition and without prejudice to other rights and remedies of the Company.
- (b) The parties agree that damages would be an insufficient remedy for breach of clause 3 and the Holder and each of the Controllers agree that the Company is entitled to seek and obtain an injunction or specific performance to enforce the Holder's and the Controllers' obligations under clause 3 (Escrow restrictions) without proof of actual damage and without prejudice to any of its other rights or remedies.

9 Amendment

Subject to clause 13 (**Company to complete Schedule 2**), this deed can only be amended or replaced by another deed executed by the parties.

10 Termination

This deed terminates automatically if:

- (a) the Company withdraws the Initial Public Offer;
- (b) the Company is not admitted to the official list of ASX by 31 December 2020; or

(c) otherwise when the Holding Lock is released in full in respect of all Voluntary Escrow Securities and Controller Interests.

11 Capacity

If the Holder or Controller has entered into this deed as a trustee:

- (a) notwithstanding any other provision of this deed including any provision expressed to prevail over this clause 11 and subject to clause 11(c), the Holder or Controller (as applicable) enters into this deed only in its capacity as trustee of the relevant trust and in no other capacity. A liability arising under or in connection with this deed can be enforced against the Holder or Controller (as applicable) only to the extent which it can be satisfied out of the property of the relevant trust for which the Holder or Controller (as applicable) is actually indemnified for the liability. The Holder or Controller (as applicable) will exercise its rights of indemnification in order to satisfy its obligations under this deed;
- (b) subject to clause 11(c), a party to this deed may not sue the Holder or Controller (as applicable) in any capacity other than as trustee in respect of the relevant trust, including seeking the appointment to the Holder or Controller (as applicable) of a receiver (except in relation to property of the relevant trust), a liquidator, administrator or any similar person; and
- (c) the provisions of this clause 11 will not apply to any obligation or liability of the Holder or Controller (as applicable) to the extent that it is not satisfied because under the relevant trust deed or by operation of law, there is a reduction in the extent to which the Holder or Controller (as applicable) is entitled to exercise its right of indemnification out of the assets of the relevant trust, or the right does not exist at all, as a result of the Holder's or Controller's (as applicable) fraud, negligence, improper performance of duties or breach of trust.

12 Release of results

The Company agrees to release its:

- (a) full year financial results for the period ending 30 June 2021; and
- (b) half year financial results for the period ending 31 December 2021,

in accordance with the timeframes required by the Corporations Act and ASX Listing Rules.

13 Company to complete Schedule 2

Each party authorises the Company (or any person delegated such authority in writing by the Company) to insert in Schedule 2 (**Details**), after execution of this deed by each party:

- (a) the particulars of Voluntary Escrow Securities in item 5 of Schedule 2 (**Details**); and
- (b) any other details necessary to complete Schedule 2 (**Details**).

14 Notices

14.1 General

- (a) Unless expressly stated otherwise in this deed and subject to clause 14.2 (Notices sent by email) a notice, consent or other communication given under this deed including, but not limited to, a request, certificate, demand, consent, waiver or approval, to or by a party to this deed (Notice):
 - (i) must be in legible writing and in English;
 - (ii) must be addressed to the party to whom it is to be given (Addressee) at the address or email address set out in Schedule 2 (Details) or to any other address or email address a party notifies to the other under this clause;
 - (iii) must be signed by or on behalf of the sender (if an individual) or an Officer of the sender;
 - (iv) must be either:
 - (A) delivered by hand or sent by pre-paid mail (by airmail if sent to or from a place outside of Australia) to the Addressee; or
 - (B) sent by email to the Addressee's email address; and
 - (v) is deemed to be received by the Addressee in accordance with clause 14.1(c).
- (b) If:
 - a party changes its address and fails to notify the other party (or parties, as applicable) of this change and the new address, delivery of Notices marked to the attention of the Addressee at that new address is deemed compliant with the notice obligations under this clause;
 - (ii) an individual named in clause 14.1 ceases to work in the role specified or ceases to work for the Addressee and the Addressee fails to notify the other party (or parties, as applicable) of an alternative individual, delivery of notices marked to the attention of an individual in the same or equivalent role at that party is deemed compliant with the notice obligations under this clause; and/or
 - (iii) an individual associated with an email address listed in clause 14.1 ceases to work for the Addressee and the Addressee fails to notify the other party (or parties, as applicable) of an alternative email address, notices sent by email to a manager or equivalent level personnel at that party is deemed compliant with the notice obligations under this clause.
- (c) Without limiting any other means by which the sender may be able to prove that a Notice has been received by the Addressee, a Notice is deemed to be received:
 - (i) if sent by hand, when delivered to the Addressee;
 - (ii) if sent by post, on the 6th Business Day after the date of posting, or if to or from a place outside Australia, on the 10th Business Day after the date of posting; or

- (iii) if sent by email:
 - (A) when the sender receives an automated message confirming delivery; or
 - (B) 30 minutes after the time sent (as recorded on the device from which the sender sent the email) unless the sender receives an automated message that the email has not been delivered,

whichever happens first,

but if the delivery or receipt is on a day which is not a Business Day or is after 5.00pm (Addressee's time), it is deemed to be received at 9.00am on the following Business Day.

14.2 Notices sent by email

Notices sent by email need not be marked for attention in the way stated in clause 14.1. However, the email:

- (a) must be sent to the email address set out in Schedule 2 (**Details**) (or to any other email address a party notifies to the other under this clause; and
- (b) must state the first and last name of the sender.

Notices sent by email are taken to be signed by the named sender.

15 General

15.1 Choice of law (Governing law)

This deed is governed by the laws of New South Wales, Australia.

15.2 Choice of jurisdiction

Each party irrevocable and unconditionally submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of New South Wales, Australia, including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Federal Court of Australia sitting in New South Wales, Australia.

15.3 Further assurances

Except as expressly provided in this deed, each party must, at its own expense, do all things reasonably necessary to give full effect to this deed and the matters contemplated by it.

15.4 Counterparts

This deed may be executed in any number of counterparts and signatures on behalf of a party may be on different counterparts.

15.5 Time of essence

Time is of the essence to this deed.

15.6 Waiver

- (a) No waiver of a right or remedy under this deed is effective unless it is in writing and signed by the party granting it. It is only effective in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which it is granted.
- (b) A single or partial exercise of a right or remedy under this deed does not prevent a further exercise of that or of any other right or remedy.
- (c) Failure to exercise or delay in exercising a right or remedy under this deed does not operate as a waiver or prevent further exercise of that or any other right or remedy.

15.7 Severability

Any term of this deed which is wholly or partially void or unenforceable is severed to the extent that it is void or unenforceable. The validity or enforceability of the remainder of this deed is not affected.

Schedule 1 Dictionary

1 Dictionary

The following definitions apply in this deed.

Affiliate means any Related Body Corporate.

Affiliated Fund means each corporation, trust, limited liability company, general or limited partnership or other entity under common control with the Holder or Controller (as applicable) or that receives investment advice from the investment adviser to the Holder or Controller (as applicable) or any of their Affiliates or an investment adviser Affiliated with such investment adviser.

ASX means ASX Limited (ACN 008 624 691) or the financial market operated by it, as the context requires.

ASX Listing Rules means the listing rules of ASX.

ASX Settlement Operating Rules means the settlement operating rules of ASX Settlement Pty Ltd (ACN 008 504 532).

Business Day means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on which banks are open for general banking business in New South Wales, Australia.

Company means Cashrewards Group Limited (ACN 615 084 654) (to be renamed "Cashrewards Limited").

Completion means the issue and transfer and allotment of the Shares the subject of the Initial Public Offer.

Controllers means each person named in item 3 of Schedule 2 (**Details**) and **Controller** means any one of those persons.

Controller Interests means the securities, economic interests or other interests in the Voluntary Escrow Securities (for the duration of the Escrow Period) in which the Controller has a direct or indirect interest and each intermediate entity through which that interest occurs, full particulars of which are set out in item 6 of Schedule 2 (**Details**).

Corporations Act means Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Dealing, in respect of any Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interest, means to directly or indirectly:

- (a) sell, assign, transfer or otherwise Dispose of any legal, beneficial or economic interest in such Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable);
- (b) encumber or grant a security interest over such Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable) or any legal, beneficial or economic interest in that Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable);
- (c) grant or exercise an option in respect of such Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable);

- (d) do, or omit to do, any act if the act or omission would have the effect of transferring, whether directly or indirectly, effective ownership or control of, or any legal, beneficial or economic interest in, such Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable); or
- (e) agree to do any of those things,

and **Deal** has a corresponding meaning.

Dispose has the meaning given in the ASX Listing Rules.

Escrow Period means the period for which the Voluntary Escrow Securities are escrowed as set out in item 4 of Schedule 2 (**Details**).

Financial Institution has the meaning given to that term in clause 5(c).

First Escrow Period means the period for which the Tranche 1 Securities are escrowed as set out in item 4 of Schedule 2 (**Details**).

GST Law has the meaning given to it in the *A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999* (Cth).

Holding Lock has the meaning given to that term in section 2 of the ASX Settlement Operating Rules.

Initial Public Offer means the proposed initial public offering of Shares by the Company and by SaleCo.

Issue Date means, in relation to a Security, the date the Security is issued.

Issuer Sponsored Subregister has the meaning given to that term in section 2 of the ASX Settlement Operating Rules.

Offer Price has the meaning given in the Prospectus.

Option means an option to acquire a Share.

Prospectus means the prospectus to be issued by the Company and SaleCo in connection with the Initial Public Offer.

SaleCo means Cashrewards SaleCo Limited (ACN 644 956 383).

Second Escrow Period means the period for which the Tranche 2 Securities are escrowed as set out in item 4 of Schedule 2 (**Details**).

Security means a Share (including a Share issued on exercise of an Option) or an Option and a reference to **Securities** includes any combination of Shares and Options.

Share means a fully paid ordinary share in the capital of the Company.

Takeover Bid has the meaning given in the Corporations Act and includes a proportional takeover bid.

Tranche 1 Securities means the Securities set out in item 5 of Schedule 2 (**Details**) in the row titled "Tranche 1 Securities".

Tranche 2 Securities means the Securities set out in item 5 of Schedule 2 (**Details**) in the row titled "Tranche 2 Securities".

Trust has the meaning given in clause 6.2(a).

Trustee has the meaning given in clause 6.2(a).

Voluntary Escrow Securities means:

- (a) in relation to a Holder, the Securities specified in item 5 of Schedule 2 (**Details**); and
- (b) any securities attaching to or arising out of those Securities including any Shares issued on the exercise of Options.

2 Interpretation

In this deed the following rules of interpretation apply unless the contrary intention appears:

- (a) headings are for convenience only and do not affect the interpretation of this deed;
- (b) the singular includes the plural and vice versa;
- (c) words that are gender neutral or gender specific include each gender;
- (d) where a word or phrase is given a particular meaning, other parts of speech and grammatical forms of that word or phrase have corresponding meanings;
- (e) the words 'such as', 'including', 'particularly' and similar expressions are not words of limitation;
- (f) a reference to:
 - (i) a person includes a natural person, partnership, joint venture, government agency, association, corporation, trust or other body corporate;
 - (ii) a thing (including but not limited to a chose in action or other right) includes a part of that thing;
 - (iii) a party includes its agents, successors and permitted assigns;
 - (iv) a document includes all amendments or supplements to that document;
 - (v) a clause, term, party, schedule or attachment is a reference to a clause or term of, or party, schedule or attachment to this deed;
 - (vi) this deed includes all schedules and attachments to it;
 - (vii) a law includes a constitutional provision, treaty, decree, convention, statute, regulation, ordinance, by-law, judgment, rule of common law or equity or a rule of an applicable financial market and is a reference to that law as amended, consolidated or replaced;
 - (viii) a statute includes any regulation, ordinance, by-law or other subordinate legislation under it;

- (ix) an agreement other than this deed includes an undertaking, or legally enforceable arrangement or understanding whether or not in writing; and
- (x) a monetary amount is in Australian dollars and all amounts payable under or in connection with this deed are payable in Australian dollars;
- (g) unless otherwise specified in this deed, an agreement on the part of two or more persons binds them severally and not jointly;
- (h) no rule of construction applies to the disadvantage of a party because that party was responsible for the preparation of this deed or any part of it;
- (i) when the day on which something must be done is not a Business Day, that thing must be done on the following Business Day;
- (j) in determining the time of day where relevant to this deed, the relevant time of day is:
 - (i) for the purposes of giving or receiving notices, the time of day where a party receiving a notice is located; or
 - (ii) for any other purpose under this deed, the time of day in the place where the party required to perform an obligation is located;
- (k) a day is the period of time commencing at midnight and ending immediately before the next midnight is to occur;
- (I) if a period of time is calculated from a particular day, act or event (such as the giving of a notice), unless otherwise stated in this deed, it is to be calculated exclusive of that day, or the day of that act or event; and
- (m) where no Controller is named in item 3 of Schedule 2 (Details), then references in this deed to Controller, Controllers and Controller Interests may be disregarded when applying the terms and conditions of this deed.

3 Compliance with ASX Listing Rules

During the Escrow Period, and for so long as the Company is listed on the ASX:

- (a) notwithstanding anything contained in this deed, if the ASX Listing Rules prohibit an act being done, that act must not be done;
- (b) nothing contained in this deed prevents an act being done that the ASX Listing Rules require to be done;
- (c) if the ASX Listing Rules require an act to be done or not to be done, authority is given for that act to be done or not to be done (as the case may be);
- (d) if the ASX Listing Rules require this deed to contain a provision and it does not contain such a provision, this deed is deemed to contain that provision;
- (e) if the ASX Listing Rules require this deed not to contain a provision and it contains such a provision, this deed is deemed not to contain that provision; and
- (f) if any provision of this deed is or becomes inconsistent with the ASX Listing Rules, this deed is deemed not to contain that provision to the extent of the inconsistency.

Schedule 2 Details

1 Company

Cashrewards Group Limited (ABN 95 615 084 654) (to be renamed "Cashrewards Limited") of Suite 306, Level 3, 815 Pacific Highway Chatswood NSW 2067 with email address retief.lampen@cashrewards.com to the attention of Retief Lampen.

2 Holder

Clontarf Investments Pty Ltd (ACN 164 546 776) ATF Yaki Family Trust of 2A Peronne Avenue, Clontarf NSW 2093 with email address rg@aliumcap.com to the attention of Rajeev Gupta.

3 Controller(s)

Controller	Address and other notice details
(Controller 1): Rajeev Gupta	Address: 2A Peronne Avenue, Clontarf NSW 2093 Email: rg@aliumcap.com
	Attention: Rajeev Gupta
(Controller 2): Leena Gupta	Address: 2A Peronne Avenue, Clontarf NSW 2093
	Email:
	Attention: Leena Gupta

4 Escrow Period

In relation to:

- (a) the First Escrow Period, the period commencing immediately following Completion and ending at 10.00am on the next trading day after the date that the Company has released to the ASX its preliminary final report (being the Company's Appendix 4E) for the financial year ending 30 June 2021; and
- (b) the Second Escrow Period, the period commencing immediately following Completion and ending at 10.00am on the next trading day after the date that the Company has released to the ASX its preliminary half-year financial statements (being the Company's Appendix 4D) for the half year ended 31 December 2021.

5 Particulars of Voluntary Escrow Securities

Tranche 1 Securities	All of the Securities in the Company held by the Holder immediately following Completion other than Shares acquired under the Initial Public Offer at the Offer Price (if any).
Tranche 2 Securities	50% of the Tranche 1 Securities

6 Particulars of Controller Interests

Controller	Particulars of Controller Interests
(Controller 1): Rajeev Gupta	Holds 50% of the issued share capital of the Holder.
(Controller 2): Leena Gupta	Holds 50% of the issued share capital of the Holder.

Execution page

Executed as a deed.

Signed, sealed and delivered by **Cashrewards Group Limited (ACN 615 084 654)** in accordance with section 127 of the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth) by:

Signature of director

Bernard Wilson

Name of director (print)

Signature of director/secretary

Retief Lampen

Name of director/secretary (print)

Executed as a deed.

Signed, sealed and delivered by **Clontarf Investments Pty Ltd (ACN 164 546 776) ATF Yaki Family Trust** in accordance with section 127 of the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth) by:

Rajeev Gupta

Signature of director

Rajeev Gupta

Name of director (print)

Leena Gupta

Signature of director/secretary

Leena Gupta

Name of director/secretary (print)

Signed, sealed and delivered by **Rajeev Gupta** in the presence of:

MConsidine

Signature of witness

Rajeev Jupta

Signature of Rajeev Gupta

Michael Considine

Name of witness (print)

Signed, sealed and delivered by **Leena Gupta** in the presence of:

MConsidine

Signature of witness

Leena Gupta

Signature of Leena Gupta

Michael Considine

Name of witness (print)



Voluntary escrow deed

Cashrewards Group Limited (ACN 615 084 654) The Holder(s) named in item 4 of Schedule 2 The Controller(s) named in item 5 of Schedule 2

Contents		Page
1	Defined terms and interpretation	1
	1.1 Definitions in the Dictionary	1
	1.2 Interpretation	1
2	Condition precedent	1
3	Escrow restrictions	2
	3.1 Voluntary Escrow Securities	2
	3.2 Controller Interests	2
4	Holding Lock	2
	4.1 Agreement to Holding Lock	2
	4.2 Application of Holding Lock	2
	4.3 Removal of Holding Lock	2
	4.4 Acknowledgements	2
5	Exceptions	3
	5.2 Notice	4
6	Warranties	5
	6.1 Giving of warranties	5
	6.2 Warranties of Holder and Controller	5
	6.3 Breach of warranties	6
	6.4 Survival of warranties and representations	6
7	Permitted dealings with the Voluntary Escrow Securities	6
8	Consequences of breach	7
9	Amendment	7
10	Termination	7
11	Capacity	7
12	Release of results	8
13	Company to complete Schedule 2	8
14	Notices	8
	14.1 General	8

	14.2	Notices sent by email	9
15	General		
	15.1	Choice of law (Governing law)	10
	15.2	Choice of jurisdiction	10
	15.3	Further assurances	10
	15.4	Counterparts	10
	15.5	Time of essence	10
	15.6	Waiver	10
	15.7	Severability	10
Schee	dule 1	Dictionary	11
Schee	dule 2	Details	15
Execution page			17

.....

-
Parties

- 1 The person named in item 1 of Schedule 2 (Details) (Company)
- 2 The person named in item 4 of Schedule 2 (Details) (Holder)
- 3 The person(s) named in item 5 of Schedule 2 (Details) (Controllers and each a Controller)

Background

- A The Company intends to be admitted to the official list of ASX and proposes to issue Shares pursuant to the Initial Public Offer.
- B The Holder holds or will hold the Voluntary Escrow Securities on or around Completion.
- C The Holder agrees to escrow the Voluntary Escrow Securities for the Escrow Period pursuant to the terms of this deed on the basis that the Company will take the steps necessary to be admitted to the official list of ASX.
- D To the extent that there are any Controllers named in item 5 of Schedule 2 (**Details**), each Controller undertakes to the Company to hold the Controller Interests pursuant to the terms of this deed on the basis that the Company will take the steps necessary to be admitted to the official list of ASX.

The parties agree

1 Defined terms and interpretation

1.1 Definitions in the Dictionary

Other than as expressly provided or where the context makes it clear that the following rule is not intended to apply, a term or expression starting with a capital letter:

- (a) which is defined in the Dictionary in Schedule 1 (**Dictionary**), has the meaning given to it in the Dictionary;
- (b) which is defined in the Corporations Act, but is not defined in the Dictionary, has the meaning given to it in the Corporations Act; and
- (c) which is defined in the GST Law, but is not defined in the Dictionary or the Corporations Act, has the meaning given to it in the GST Law.

1.2 Interpretation

The interpretation clause in Schedule 1 (**Dictionary**) sets out rules of interpretation for this deed.

2 Condition precedent

(a) The respective rights and obligations of the parties under this deed are conditional upon Completion occurring and the Holder holding Voluntary Escrow Securities immediately following Completion.

(b) If the condition precedent in clause 2(a), or if Completion does not occur, in either case by 31 December 2020, this deed will terminate with immediate effect.

3 Escrow restrictions

3.1 Voluntary Escrow Securities

Subject to clause 5 (**Exceptions**), during the Escrow Period, the Holder must not Deal in the Voluntary Escrow Securities.

3.2 Controller Interests

Subject to clause 5 (**Exceptions**), during the Escrow Period, the Controller must not Deal in the Controller Interests.

4 Holding Lock

4.1 Agreement to Holding Lock

Subject to clause 4.2 (**Application of Holding Lock**), the Holder agrees to the application of a Holding Lock to the Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Shares, and agrees to take all necessary steps to ensure that its Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Shares are registered and held for the Holder on the Issuer Sponsored Subregister whilst any restrictions under clause 3 (**Escrow restrictions**) apply to those Voluntary Escrow Securities.

4.2 Application of Holding Lock

The Company will apply a Holding Lock to the Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Shares upon Completion (or on the Issue Date for any Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Shares and are issued after Completion) and may only remove the Holding Lock with respect to the Voluntary Escrow Securities if permitted under clause 4.3 (**Removal of Holding Lock**).

4.3 Removal of Holding Lock

- (a) Upon request by the Holder or, where applicable, a Controller, the Company must promptly remove the Holding Lock with respect to the Voluntary Escrow Securities to the extent necessary to facilitate a Dealing that is permitted under clause 5 (**Exceptions**).
- (b) The Company must remove the Holding Lock with respect to the Voluntary Escrow Securities on the Business Day after the end of the relevant Escrow Period.
- (c) The Company must notify ASX that the Voluntary Escrow Securities will be released from the Holding Lock in accordance with the timing requirements set out in ASX Listing Rule 3.10A.

4.4 Acknowledgements

The parties acknowledge and agree that, in respect of any Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Options, the Company will:

(a) inform its share registry of the restrictions applying to those Options contained in this deed;

(b) include, or will procure its share registry to include, a restrictive legend on the relevant Option certificates reflecting the restrictions contained in this deed in the following terms (or on such other terms as the Company deems appropriate having regard to the need to put potential purchasers on notice of the restrictions in this deed):

"THE OPTIONS COMPRISED HEREIN ARE SUBJECT TO RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER UNDER AN ESCROW ARRANGEMENT AND AS SUCH, MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED UNTIL AFTER [insert end date of escrow period], OTHER THAN IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THAT ARRANGEMENT."

- (c) the Company will to the extent necessary to permit Dealings of the Voluntary Escrow Securities permitted by this deed and at the conclusion of the relevant Escrow Period:
 - (i) promptly inform its share registry of those circumstances4.4(a);
 - (ii) issue new certificates for such Options omitting the restrictive legend referred to in clause 4.4(b);
 - (iii) notify ASX that those Voluntary Escrow Securities will be released from the above arrangements, in accordance with the timing requirements set out in Listing Rule 3.10A.

5 **Exceptions**

- (a) During the Escrow Period, the Holder may Deal in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities and a Controller may Deal in its Controller Interests if the Dealing arises solely as a result of:
 - (i) the acceptance a bona fide third party offer under a Takeover Bid in relation to those Voluntary Escrow Securities, provided that the holders of at least half of the applicable Securities that are not subject to any voluntary escrow deed, and to which the offers under the bid relate, have accepted the bid; or
 - the transfer or cancellation of the Voluntary Escrow Securities in the Company as part of a scheme of arrangement under Part 5.1 of the Corporations Act, provided that the scheme of arrangement has received all necessary approvals, including all such necessary court and shareholder approvals, provided,

in each case, that if for any reason any or all Voluntary Escrow Securities are not transferred or cancelled in accordance with such a Takeover Bid or scheme of arrangement (including because the Takeover Bid does not become unconditional), then the Holder agrees that the restrictions applying to the Voluntary Escrow Securities under this deed will continue to apply and without limiting the foregoing, the Holding Lock will be reapplied to all Voluntary Escrow Securities not so transferred or cancelled. For the avoidance of doubt, the Controller can make a Dealing if required to enable the Holder to take any of the actions in this clause 5(a).

(b) Notwithstanding any condition to the contrary in this deed, during the Escrow Period, the Holder or Controller may transfer (in one or more transactions) any or all Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) to an Affiliate or an Affiliated Fund of the Holder or Controller (as applicable) provided:

- such Affiliate or Affiliated Fund agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions of this deed by entering into such further agreements as the Company may reasonably require (provided that the Company may not require any change to the remaining duration of the restrictions in clause 3 or to the nature of those restrictions); and
- (ii) the transfer does not result in a change to the beneficial ownership of the Voluntary Escrow Securities.
- (c) Notwithstanding any condition to the contrary in this deed, during the Escrow Period, the Holder or Controller may encumber any (or all) of its Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) to a bona fide third party financial institution (Financial Institution) as security for a loan, hedge or other financial accommodation provided that:
 - the encumbrance does not in any way constitute a direct or indirect disposal of the economic interests, or decrease an economic interest, that the Holder or Controller (as applicable) has in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable); and
 - (ii) no Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) are to be transferred or delivered to the Financial Institution or any other person in connection with the encumbrance. Any agreement with a Financial Institution must provide that the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) are to remain in escrow and subject to the terms of this deed as if the Financial Institution were a party to this deed.
- (d) During the Escrow Period, the Holder may Deal in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities to the extent the Dealing is required by applicable law (including an order of a court of competent jurisdiction), provided that any recipient of the Voluntary Escrow Securities will no longer be bound by any Holding Lock or restrictions on Dealing.
- (e) Notwithstanding any condition to the contrary in this deed, during the Escrow Period, the Holder or Controller may Deal in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests upon the death or incapacity of the Holder or Controller, provided that the transferee will no longer be bound by any Holding Lock or restrictions on Dealing in respect of the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable).
- (f) During the Escrow Period, the Holder may Deal in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities if the Dealing is an exercise of an Option in accordance with the terms of an equity incentive scheme. Any Shares issued on such exercise will be subject to the same restrictions under this Deed applying to the exercised Options.

5.2 Notice

If the Holder or Controller becomes aware:

- (a) that a Dealing in any Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) has occurred, or is likely to occur, during the Escrow Period; or
- (b) of any matter which is likely to give rise to a Dealing in any Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) during the Escrow Period,

it must notify the Company as soon as practicable after becoming aware of the Dealing or the matters giving rise to the Dealing, providing full details.

6 Warranties

6.1 Giving of warranties

Each of the warranties and representations in this clause 6 is given in favour of the Company:

- (a) as at the date of this deed; and
- (b) at all times until expiry of the Escrow Period.

The warranties and representations in this clause 6 are given in respect of any and all Voluntary Escrow Securities which the Holder holds and any and all Controller Interests which the Controller holds from time to time during the Escrow Period, including as a result of a permitted Dealing in accordance with clause 5 (**Exceptions**).

6.2 Warranties of Holder and Controller

Each of the Holder and each Controller jointly and severally warrants and represents the following with respect to themselves:

- (a) it has full power and authority, without the consent of any other person, to enter into and perform its obligations under this deed (including, if the Holder or Controller (as applicable) has entered into this deed as a trustee (**Trustee**), under the trust deed for the relevant trust (**Trust**));
- (b) it has taken all necessary action to authorise the execution, delivery and performance of this deed in accordance with its terms;
- (c) this deed constitutes legal, valid and binding obligations and, subject to any necessary stamping and registration, is enforceable in accordance with its terms;
- (d) the execution, delivery and performance by the Holder and each Controller (as applicable) of this deed does not and will not violate, breach or result in a contravention of:
 - (i) any applicable law, regulation or authorisation;
 - (ii) its constitution or other constituent documents (or, if the Holder or Controller (as applicable)] is a Trustee, the trust deed for the Trust); or
 - (iii) any agreement, undertaking, encumbrance or document which is binding on that party.
- (e) before the Escrow Period begins, it has not done, or omitted to do, any act which would breach clause 3 (Escrow restrictions) if done or omitted to be done during the Escrow Period or taken any other action which will cause it to breach clause 3 (Escrow restrictions) during the Escrow Period;
- (f) no person has, or will have immediately following Completion, any economic or beneficial interest in the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) other than the Holder or the Controllers and the underlying beneficial owners of the Controller;
- (g) no person (other than the Holder or a Controller) has the power to direct or cause the direction of the management of the Holder or Controller (as applicable),

whether through the ownership of voting securities or by agreement or by virtue of any person being the manager or adviser of the Holder or a Controller (as applicable) or otherwise;

- (h) immediately following Completion, the Holder will hold the Voluntary Escrow Securities and each Controller will hold the Controller Interests as set out in Schedule 2 (Details);
- the Holder and Controllers have not granted any encumbrances or any interests or rights to third parties in respect of the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable), and will not do so during the Escrow Period (other than permitted by this deed), such that the Voluntary Escrow Securities and Controller Interests are free from all encumbrances and other third party interests or rights (other than where permitted by this deed);
- (j) other than Shares acquired under the Initial Public Offer at the Offer Price (if any), the Voluntary Escrow Securities and Controller Interests (as applicable) will, immediately following Completion, be all of the securities, economic interests or other interests that the Holder or Controller (as applicable) directly or indirectly has in the Company; and
- (k) if the Holder or a Controller (as applicable) is a Trustee:
 - the Trustee is the sole trustee of the Trust and, to the best of its knowledge and belief, there is no proposal to remove or replace it as trustee of the Trust;
 - (ii) the Holder or Controller (as applicable) has the right to be fully indemnified out of the assets of the Trust in respect of any liability arising under, or in connection with, this deed and the right has not been modified, released or diminished in any way. The assets of the Trust are sufficient to satisfy that right in full and the Holder or Controller (as applicable) has not released or disposed of its equitable lien over that trust; and
 - (iii) the Trust has not been terminated and there is no effective proposal or requirement to wind up, deregister, terminate, reconstitute or resettle the Trust.

6.3 Breach of warranties

A breach of any of the warranties and representations in this clause 6 is a breach of the terms of this deed.

6.4 Survival of warranties and representations

The warranties and representations in this clause 6 survive termination of this deed.

7 Permitted dealings with the Voluntary Escrow Securities

Except as expressly provided for in clause 3 (**Escrow restrictions**), nothing in this deed restricts the Holder or a Controller from dealing with the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) or exercising rights attaching to, or afforded to the holder of, the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable), including (without limitation) by:

(a) exercising any voting rights attaching to Voluntary Escrow Securities;

- (b) receiving or being entitled to any dividend, return of capital or other distribution attaching to Voluntary Escrow Securities; or
- (c) receiving or participating in any rights or bonus issue in connection with the Voluntary Escrow Securities.

8 Consequences of breach

- (a) If the Holder or Controller breaches this deed, each of the following applies:
 - (i) the Company may take any steps that it considers necessary to enforce this deed and/or rectify the breach; and
 - the Company may refuse to acknowledge, deal with, accept or register any sale, assignment, transfer or conversion of any of the Voluntary Escrow Securities. This is in addition and without prejudice to other rights and remedies of the Company.
- (b) The parties agree that damages would be an insufficient remedy for breach of clause 3 and the Holder and each of the Controllers agree that the Company is entitled to seek and obtain an injunction or specific performance to enforce the Holder's and the Controllers' obligations under clause 3 (Escrow restrictions) without proof of actual damage and without prejudice to any of its other rights or remedies.

9 Amendment

Subject to clause 13 (**Company to complete Schedule 2**), this deed can only be amended or replaced by another deed executed by the parties.

10 Termination

This deed terminates automatically if:

- (a) the Company withdraws the Initial Public Offer;
- (b) the Company is not admitted to the official list of ASX by 31 December 2020; or
- (c) otherwise when the Holding Lock is released in full in respect of all Voluntary Escrow Securities and Controller Interests.

11 Capacity

If the Holder or Controller has entered into this deed as a trustee:

(a) notwithstanding any other provision of this deed including any provision expressed to prevail over this clause 11 and subject to clause 11(c), the Holder or Controller (as applicable) enters into this deed only in its capacity as trustee of the relevant trust and in no other capacity. A liability arising under or in connection with this deed can be enforced against the Holder or Controller (as applicable) only to the extent which it can be satisfied out of the property of the relevant trust for which the Holder or Controller (as applicable) is actually indemnified for the liability. The

Holder or Controller (as applicable) will exercise its rights of indemnification in order to satisfy its obligations under this deed;

- (b) subject to clause 11(c), a party to this deed may not sue the Holder or Controller (as applicable) in any capacity other than as trustee in respect of the relevant trust, including seeking the appointment to the Holder or Controller (as applicable) of a receiver (except in relation to property of the relevant trust), a liquidator, administrator or any similar person; and
- (c) the provisions of this clause 11 will not apply to any obligation or liability of the Holder or Controller (as applicable) to the extent that it is not satisfied because under the relevant trust deed or by operation of law, there is a reduction in the extent to which the Holder or Controller (as applicable) is entitled to exercise its right of indemnification out of the assets of the relevant trust, or the right does not exist at all, as a result of the Holder's or Controller's (as applicable) fraud, negligence, improper performance of duties or breach of trust.

12 Release of results

The Company agrees to release its full year financial results for the period ending 30 June 2021 in accordance with the timeframes required by the Corporations Act and ASX Listing Rules.

13 Company to complete Schedule 2

Each party authorises the Company (or any person delegated such authority in writing by the Company) to insert in Schedule 2 (**Details**), after execution of this deed by each party:

- (a) the particulars of Voluntary Escrow Securities in item 3 of Schedule 2 (**Details**); and
- (b) any other details necessary to complete Schedule 2 (**Details**).

14 Notices

- 14.1 General
 - (a) Unless expressly stated otherwise in this deed and subject to clause 14.2 (Notices sent by email) a notice, consent or other communication given under this deed including, but not limited to, a request, certificate, demand, consent, waiver or approval, to or by a party to this deed (Notice):
 - (i) must be in legible writing and in English;
 - (ii) must be addressed to the party to whom it is to be given (Addressee) at the address or email address set out in Schedule 2 (Details) or to any other address or email address a party notifies to the other under this clause;
 - (iii) must be signed by or on behalf of the sender (if an individual) or an Officer of the sender;
 - (iv) must be either:

- (A) delivered by hand or sent by pre-paid mail (by airmail if sent to or from a place outside of Australia) to the Addressee; or
- (B) sent by email to the Addressee's email address; and
- (v) is deemed to be received by the Addressee in accordance with clause 14.1(c).
- (b) If:
 - a party changes its address and fails to notify the other party (or parties, as applicable) of this change and the new address, delivery of Notices marked to the attention of the Addressee at that new address is deemed compliant with the notice obligations under this clause;
 - (ii) an individual named in clause 14.1 ceases to work in the role specified or ceases to work for the Addressee and the Addressee fails to notify the other party (or parties, as applicable) of an alternative individual, delivery of notices marked to the attention of an individual in the same or equivalent role at that party is deemed compliant with the notice obligations under this clause; and/or
 - (iii) an individual associated with an email address listed in clause 14.1 ceases to work for the Addressee and the Addressee fails to notify the other party (or parties, as applicable) of an alternative email address, notices sent by email to a manager or equivalent level personnel at that party is deemed compliant with the notice obligations under this clause.
- (c) Without limiting any other means by which the sender may be able to prove that a Notice has been received by the Addressee, a Notice is deemed to be received:
 - (i) if sent by hand, when delivered to the Addressee;
 - (ii) if sent by post, on the 6th Business Day after the date of posting, or if to or from a place outside Australia, on the 10th Business Day after the date of posting; or
 - (iii) if sent by email:
 - (A) when the sender receives an automated message confirming delivery; or
 - (B) 30 minutes after the time sent (as recorded on the device from which the sender sent the email) unless the sender receives an automated message that the email has not been delivered,

whichever happens first,

but if the delivery or receipt is on a day which is not a Business Day or is after 5.00pm (Addressee's time), it is deemed to be received at 9.00am on the following Business Day.

14.2 Notices sent by email

Notices sent by email need not be marked for attention in the way stated in clause 14.1. However, the email:

- (a) must be sent to the email address set out in Schedule 2 (**Details**) (or to any other email address a party notifies to the other under this clause; and
- (b) must state the first and last name of the sender.

Notices sent by email are taken to be signed by the named sender.

15 General

15.1 Choice of law (Governing law)

This deed is governed by the laws of New South Wales, Australia.

15.2 Choice of jurisdiction

Each party irrevocable and unconditionally submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of New South Wales, Australia, including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Federal Court of Australia sitting in New South Wales, Australia.

15.3 Further assurances

Except as expressly provided in this deed, each party must, at its own expense, do all things reasonably necessary to give full effect to this deed and the matters contemplated by it.

15.4 Counterparts

This deed may be executed in any number of counterparts and signatures on behalf of a party may be on different counterparts.

15.5 Time of essence

Time is of the essence to this deed.

15.6 Waiver

- (a) No waiver of a right or remedy under this deed is effective unless it is in writing and signed by the party granting it. It is only effective in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which it is granted.
- (b) A single or partial exercise of a right or remedy under this deed does not prevent a further exercise of that or of any other right or remedy.
- (c) Failure to exercise or delay in exercising a right or remedy under this deed does not operate as a waiver or prevent further exercise of that or any other right or remedy.

15.7 Severability

Any term of this deed which is wholly or partially void or unenforceable is severed to the extent that it is void or unenforceable. The validity or enforceability of the remainder of this deed is not affected.

Schedule 1 Dictionary

1 Dictionary

The following definitions apply in this deed.

Affiliate means any Related Body Corporate.

Affiliated Fund means each corporation, trust, limited liability company, general or limited partnership or other entity under common control with the Holder or Controller (as applicable) or that receives investment advice from the investment adviser to the Holder or Controller (as applicable) or any of their Affiliates or an investment adviser Affiliated with such investment adviser.

ASX means ASX Limited (ACN 008 624 691) or the financial market operated by it, as the context requires.

ASX Listing Rules means the listing rules of ASX.

ASX Settlement Operating Rules means the settlement operating rules of ASX Settlement Pty Ltd (ACN 008 504 532).

Business Day means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on which banks are open for general banking business in New South Wales, Australia.

Company means Cashrewards Group Limited (ACN 615 084 654) (to be renamed "Cashrewards Limited").

Completion means the issue and transfer and allotment of the Shares the subject of the Initial Public Offer.

Controllers means each person named in item 5 of Schedule 2 (**Details**) and **Controller** means any one of those persons.

Controller Interests means the securities, economic interests or other interests in the Voluntary Escrow Securities (for the duration of the Escrow Period) in which the Controller has a direct or indirect interest and each intermediate entity through which that interest occurs, full particulars of which are set out in item 5 of Schedule 2 (**Details**).

Corporations Act means Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Dealing, in respect of any Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interest, means to directly or indirectly:

- (a) sell, assign, transfer or otherwise Dispose of any legal, beneficial or economic interest in such Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable);
- (b) encumber or grant a security interest over such Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable) or any legal, beneficial or economic interest in that Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable);
- (c) grant or exercise an option in respect of such Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable);

- (d) do, or omit to do, any act if the act or omission would have the effect of transferring, whether directly or indirectly, effective ownership or control of, or any legal, beneficial or economic interest in, such Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable); or
- (e) agree to do any of those things,

and **Deal** has a corresponding meaning.

Dispose has the meaning given in the ASX Listing Rules.

Escrow Period means the period for which the Voluntary Escrow Securities are escrowed as set out in item 2 of Schedule 2 (**Details**).

Financial Institution has the meaning given to that term in clause 5(c).

GST Law has the meaning given to it in the *A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999* (Cth).

Holding Lock has the meaning given to that term in section 2 of the ASX Settlement Operating Rules.

Initial Public Offer means the proposed initial public offering of Shares by the Company and by SaleCo.

Issue Date means, in relation to a Security, the date the Security is issued.

Issuer Sponsored Subregister has the meaning given to that term in section 2 of the ASX Settlement Operating Rules.

Offer Price has the meaning given in the Prospectus.

Option means an option to acquire a Share.

Prospectus means the prospectus to be issued by the Company and SaleCo in connection with the Initial Public Offer.

SaleCo means Cashrewards SaleCo Limited (ACN 644 956 383).

Security means a Share (including a Share issued on exercise of an Option) or an Option and a reference to **Securities** includes any combination of Shares and Options.

Share means a fully paid ordinary share in the capital of the Company.

Takeover Bid has the meaning given in the Corporations Act and includes a proportional takeover bid.

Trust has the meaning given in clause 6.2(a).

Trustee has the meaning given in clause 6.2(a).

Voluntary Escrow Securities means:

(a) in relation to a Holder, the Securities specified in item 3 of Schedule 2 (**Details**); and

(b) any securities attaching to or arising out of those Securities including any Shares issued on the exercise of Options.

2 Interpretation

In this deed the following rules of interpretation apply unless the contrary intention appears:

- (a) headings are for convenience only and do not affect the interpretation of this deed;
- (b) the singular includes the plural and vice versa;
- (c) words that are gender neutral or gender specific include each gender;
- (d) where a word or phrase is given a particular meaning, other parts of speech and grammatical forms of that word or phrase have corresponding meanings;
- (e) the words 'such as', 'including', 'particularly' and similar expressions are not words of limitation;
- (f) a reference to:
 - (i) a person includes a natural person, partnership, joint venture, government agency, association, corporation, trust or other body corporate;
 - (ii) a thing (including but not limited to a chose in action or other right) includes a part of that thing;
 - (iii) a party includes its agents, successors and permitted assigns;
 - (iv) a document includes all amendments or supplements to that document;
 - a clause, term, party, schedule or attachment is a reference to a clause or term of, or party, schedule or attachment to this deed;
 - (vi) this deed includes all schedules and attachments to it;
 - (vii) a law includes a constitutional provision, treaty, decree, convention, statute, regulation, ordinance, by-law, judgment, rule of common law or equity or a rule of an applicable financial market and is a reference to that law as amended, consolidated or replaced;
 - (viii) a statute includes any regulation, ordinance, by-law or other subordinate legislation under it;
 - (ix) an agreement other than this deed includes an undertaking, or legally enforceable arrangement or understanding whether or not in writing; and
 - (x) a monetary amount is in Australian dollars and all amounts payable under or in connection with this deed are payable in Australian dollars;
- (g) unless otherwise specified in this deed, an agreement on the part of two or more persons binds them severally and not jointly;
- (h) no rule of construction applies to the disadvantage of a party because that party was responsible for the preparation of this deed or any part of it;

- (i) when the day on which something must be done is not a Business Day, that thing must be done on the following Business Day;
- (j) in determining the time of day where relevant to this deed, the relevant time of day is:
 - (i) for the purposes of giving or receiving notices, the time of day where a party receiving a notice is located; or
 - (ii) for any other purpose under this deed, the time of day in the place where the party required to perform an obligation is located;
- (k) a day is the period of time commencing at midnight and ending immediately before the next midnight is to occur;
- (I) if a period of time is calculated from a particular day, act or event (such as the giving of a notice), unless otherwise stated in this deed, it is to be calculated exclusive of that day, or the day of that act or event; and
- (m) where no Controller is named in item 5 of Schedule 2 (Details), then references in this deed to Controller, Controllers and Controller Interests may be disregarded when applying the terms and conditions of this deed.

3 Compliance with ASX Listing Rules

During the Escrow Period, and for so long as the Company is listed on the ASX:

- (a) notwithstanding anything contained in this deed, if the ASX Listing Rules prohibit an act being done, that act must not be done;
- (b) nothing contained in this deed prevents an act being done that the ASX Listing Rules require to be done;
- (c) if the ASX Listing Rules require an act to be done or not to be done, authority is given for that act to be done or not to be done (as the case may be);
- (d) if the ASX Listing Rules require this deed to contain a provision and it does not contain such a provision, this deed is deemed to contain that provision;
- (e) if the ASX Listing Rules require this deed not to contain a provision and it contains such a provision, this deed is deemed not to contain that provision; and
- (f) if any provision of this deed is or becomes inconsistent with the ASX Listing Rules, this deed is deemed not to contain that provision to the extent of the inconsistency.

Schedule 2 Details

1 Company

Cashrewards Group Limited (ABN 95 615 084 654) (to be renamed "Cashrewards Limited") of Suite 306, Level 3, 815 Pacific Highway Chatswood NSW 2067 with email address retief.lampen@cashrewards.com to the attention of Retief Lampen.

2 Escrow Period

The period commencing immediately after Completion and ending at 10.00am on the next trading day after the date that the Company has released to the ASX its preliminary final report (being the Company's Appendix 4E) for the financial year ending 30 June 2021.

3 Particulars of Voluntary Escrow Securities

Voluntary Escrow Securities	All of the Securities in the Company held by the Holder
	on Completion other than Shares acquired under the
	Initial Public Offer at the Offer Price (if any).

4 Holder

Holder:	Milner York Pty Ltd (ACN 158 432 583) as trustee for Milner York Family Trust
Address:	134 March Street, Richmond NSW, 2753
Email:	joshua.lowcock@milneryork.com
Attention:	Joshua Lowcock

[Schedule 2 continued next page]

5 Controller(s)

Controller	Particulars of Controller Interests	Address and other notice details
N/A	N/A	Address:
		Email:
		Attention:
		Address:
		Email:
		Attention:
		Address:
		Email:
		Attention:
		Address:
		Email:
		Attention:
		Address:
		Email:
		Attention:

Execution page

Executed as a deed.

Signed, sealed and delivered by **Cashrewards Group Limited (ACN 615 084 654)** in accordance with section 127 of the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth) by:

5

Signature of director

Bernard Wilson

Name of director (print)

KU

Signature of director/secretary

Retief Lampen

Name of director/secretary (print)

Executed as a deed.

Signed, sealed and delivered by Milner York Pty Ltd (ACN 158 432 583) as trustee for Milner York Family Trust in accordance with section 127 of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) by: Signature of director/secretary Signature of prector / sole director and secretary L Joshua Lowcock Joshua Lowcock

Name of director (print)

Name of director/secretary (print)



Voluntary escrow deed

Cashrewards Group Limited (ACN 615 084 654) The Holder(s) named in item 4 of Schedule 2 The Controller(s) named in item 5 of Schedule 2

Contents Page			Page	
	1	Defir	ned terms and interpretation	1
		1.1	Definitions in the Dictionary	1
		1.2	Interpretation	1
	2	Conc	lition precedent	1
	3	Escr	ow restrictions	2
		3.1	Voluntary Escrow Securities	2
		3.2	Controller Interests	2
	4	Hold	ing Lock	2
		4.1	Agreement to Holding Lock	2
		4.2	Application of Holding Lock	2
		4.3	Removal of Holding Lock	2
		4.4	Acknowledgements	2
	5	Exce	ptions	3
		5.2	Notice	4
	6	Warr	anties	5
		6.1	Giving of warranties	5
		6.2	Warranties of Holder and Controller	5
		6.3	Breach of warranties	6
		6.4	Survival of warranties and representations	6
	7	Perm	nitted dealings with the Voluntary Escrow Securities	6
	8	Cons	sequences of breach	7
	9	Ame	ndment	7
	10	Term	nination	7
	11	Сара	acity	7
	12	Rele	ase of results	8
	13	Com	pany to complete Schedule 2	8
	14	Notic	ces	8
		14.1	General	8

	14.2	Notices sent by email	9
15	Gene	ral	10
	15.1	Choice of law (Governing law)	10
	15.2	Choice of jurisdiction	10
	15.3	Further assurances	10
	15.4	Counterparts	10
	15.5	Time of essence	10
	15.6	Waiver	10
	15.7	Severability	10
Schee	dule 1	Dictionary	11
Schee	dule 2	Details	15
Execu	ution pa	age	16

Parties

- 1 The person named in item 1 of Schedule 2 (Details) (Company)
- 2 The person named in item 4 of Schedule 2 (Details) (Holder)
- 3 The person(s) named in item 5 of Schedule 2 (Details) (Controllers and each a Controller)

Background

- A The Company intends to be admitted to the official list of ASX and proposes to issue Shares pursuant to the Initial Public Offer.
- B The Holder holds or will hold the Voluntary Escrow Securities on or around Completion.
- C The Holder agrees to escrow the Voluntary Escrow Securities for the Escrow Period pursuant to the terms of this deed on the basis that the Company will take the steps necessary to be admitted to the official list of ASX.
- D To the extent that there are any Controllers named in item 5 of Schedule 2 (**Details**), each Controller undertakes to the Company to hold the Controller Interests pursuant to the terms of this deed on the basis that the Company will take the steps necessary to be admitted to the official list of ASX.

The parties agree

1 Defined terms and interpretation

1.1 Definitions in the Dictionary

Other than as expressly provided or where the context makes it clear that the following rule is not intended to apply, a term or expression starting with a capital letter:

- (a) which is defined in the Dictionary in Schedule 1 (**Dictionary**), has the meaning given to it in the Dictionary;
- (b) which is defined in the Corporations Act, but is not defined in the Dictionary, has the meaning given to it in the Corporations Act; and
- (c) which is defined in the GST Law, but is not defined in the Dictionary or the Corporations Act, has the meaning given to it in the GST Law.

1.2 Interpretation

The interpretation clause in Schedule 1 (**Dictionary**) sets out rules of interpretation for this deed.

2 Condition precedent

(a) The respective rights and obligations of the parties under this deed are conditional upon Completion occurring and the Holder holding Voluntary Escrow Securities immediately following Completion.

(b) If the condition precedent in clause 2(a), or if Completion does not occur, in either case by 31 December 2020, this deed will terminate with immediate effect.

3 Escrow restrictions

3.1 Voluntary Escrow Securities

Subject to clause 5 (**Exceptions**), during the Escrow Period, the Holder must not Deal in the Voluntary Escrow Securities.

3.2 Controller Interests

Subject to clause 5 (**Exceptions**), during the Escrow Period, the Controller must not Deal in the Controller Interests.

4 Holding Lock

4.1 Agreement to Holding Lock

Subject to clause 4.2 (**Application of Holding Lock**), the Holder agrees to the application of a Holding Lock to the Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Shares, and agrees to take all necessary steps to ensure that its Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Shares are registered and held for the Holder on the Issuer Sponsored Subregister whilst any restrictions under clause 3 (**Escrow restrictions**) apply to those Voluntary Escrow Securities.

4.2 Application of Holding Lock

The Company will apply a Holding Lock to the Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Shares upon Completion (or on the Issue Date for any Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Shares and are issued after Completion) and may only remove the Holding Lock with respect to the Voluntary Escrow Securities if permitted under clause 4.3 (**Removal of Holding Lock**).

4.3 Removal of Holding Lock

- (a) Upon request by the Holder or, where applicable, a Controller, the Company must promptly remove the Holding Lock with respect to the Voluntary Escrow Securities to the extent necessary to facilitate a Dealing that is permitted under clause 5 (Exceptions).
- (b) The Company must remove the Holding Lock with respect to the Voluntary Escrow Securities on the Business Day after the end of the relevant Escrow Period.
- (c) The Company must notify ASX that the Voluntary Escrow Securities will be released from the Holding Lock in accordance with the timing requirements set out in ASX Listing Rule 3.10A.

4.4 Acknowledgements

The parties acknowledge and agree that, in respect of any Voluntary Escrow Securities that are Options, the Company will:

(a) inform its share registry of the restrictions applying to those Options contained in this deed;

(b) include, or will procure its share registry to include, a restrictive legend on the relevant Option certificates reflecting the restrictions contained in this deed in the following terms (or on such other terms as the Company deems appropriate having regard to the need to put potential purchasers on notice of the restrictions in this deed):

"THE OPTIONS COMPRISED HEREIN ARE SUBJECT TO RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER UNDER AN ESCROW ARRANGEMENT AND AS SUCH, MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED UNTIL AFTER [insert end date of escrow period], OTHER THAN IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THAT ARRANGEMENT."

- (c) the Company will to the extent necessary to permit Dealings of the Voluntary Escrow Securities permitted by this deed and at the conclusion of the relevant Escrow Period:
 - (i) promptly inform its share registry of those circumstances4.4(a);
 - (ii) issue new certificates for such Options omitting the restrictive legend referred to in clause 4.4(b);
 - (iii) notify ASX that those Voluntary Escrow Securities will be released from the above arrangements, in accordance with the timing requirements set out in Listing Rule 3.10A.

5 Exceptions

- (a) During the Escrow Period, the Holder may Deal in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities and a Controller may Deal in its Controller Interests if the Dealing arises solely as a result of:
 - the acceptance a bona fide third party offer under a Takeover Bid in relation to those Voluntary Escrow Securities, provided that the holders of at least half of the applicable Securities that are not subject to any voluntary escrow deed, and to which the offers under the bid relate, have accepted the bid; or
 - the transfer or cancellation of the Voluntary Escrow Securities in the Company as part of a scheme of arrangement under Part 5.1 of the Corporations Act, provided that the scheme of arrangement has received all necessary approvals, including all such necessary court and shareholder approvals, provided,

in each case, that if for any reason any or all Voluntary Escrow Securities are not transferred or cancelled in accordance with such a Takeover Bid or scheme of arrangement (including because the Takeover Bid does not become unconditional), then the Holder agrees that the restrictions applying to the Voluntary Escrow Securities under this deed will continue to apply and without limiting the foregoing, the Holding Lock will be reapplied to all Voluntary Escrow Securities not so transferred or cancelled. For the avoidance of doubt, the Controller can make a Dealing if required to enable the Holder to take any of the actions in this clause 5(a).

(b) Notwithstanding any condition to the contrary in this deed, during the Escrow Period, the Holder or Controller may transfer (in one or more transactions) any or all Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) to an Affiliate or an Affiliated Fund of the Holder or Controller (as applicable) provided:

- such Affiliate or Affiliated Fund agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions of this deed by entering into such further agreements as the Company may reasonably require (provided that the Company may not require any change to the remaining duration of the restrictions in clause 3 or to the nature of those restrictions); and
- (ii) the transfer does not result in a change to the beneficial ownership of the Voluntary Escrow Securities.
- (c) Notwithstanding any condition to the contrary in this deed, during the Escrow Period, the Holder or Controller may encumber any (or all) of its Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) to a bona fide third party financial institution (Financial Institution) as security for a loan, hedge or other financial accommodation provided that:
 - the encumbrance does not in any way constitute a direct or indirect disposal of the economic interests, or decrease an economic interest, that the Holder or Controller (as applicable) has in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable); and
 - (ii) no Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) are to be transferred or delivered to the Financial Institution or any other person in connection with the encumbrance. Any agreement with a Financial Institution must provide that the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) are to remain in escrow and subject to the terms of this deed as if the Financial Institution were a party to this deed.
- (d) During the Escrow Period, the Holder may Deal in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities to the extent the Dealing is required by applicable law (including an order of a court of competent jurisdiction), provided that any recipient of the Voluntary Escrow Securities will no longer be bound by any Holding Lock or restrictions on Dealing.
- (e) Notwithstanding any condition to the contrary in this deed, during the Escrow Period, the Holder or Controller may Deal in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests upon the death or incapacity of the Holder or Controller, provided that the transferee will no longer be bound by any Holding Lock or restrictions on Dealing in respect of the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable).
- (f) During the Escrow Period, the Holder may Deal in any of its Voluntary Escrow Securities if the Dealing is an exercise of an Option in accordance with the terms of an equity incentive scheme. Any Shares issued on such exercise will be subject to the same restrictions under this Deed applying to the exercised Options.

5.2 Notice

If the Holder or Controller becomes aware:

- (a) that a Dealing in any Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) has occurred, or is likely to occur, during the Escrow Period; or
- (b) of any matter which is likely to give rise to a Dealing in any Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) during the Escrow Period,

it must notify the Company as soon as practicable after becoming aware of the Dealing or the matters giving rise to the Dealing, providing full details.

6 Warranties

6.1 Giving of warranties

Each of the warranties and representations in this clause 6 is given in favour of the Company:

- (a) as at the date of this deed; and
- (b) at all times until expiry of the Escrow Period.

The warranties and representations in this clause 6 are given in respect of any and all Voluntary Escrow Securities which the Holder holds and any and all Controller Interests which the Controller holds from time to time during the Escrow Period, including as a result of a permitted Dealing in accordance with clause 5 (**Exceptions**).

6.2 Warranties of Holder and Controller

Each of the Holder and each Controller jointly and severally warrants and represents the following with respect to themselves:

- (a) it has full power and authority, without the consent of any other person, to enter into and perform its obligations under this deed (including, if the Holder or Controller (as applicable) has entered into this deed as a trustee (**Trustee**), under the trust deed for the relevant trust (**Trust**));
- (b) it has taken all necessary action to authorise the execution, delivery and performance of this deed in accordance with its terms;
- (c) this deed constitutes legal, valid and binding obligations and, subject to any necessary stamping and registration, is enforceable in accordance with its terms;
- (d) the execution, delivery and performance by the Holder and each Controller (as applicable) of this deed does not and will not violate, breach or result in a contravention of:
 - (i) any applicable law, regulation or authorisation;
 - (ii) its constitution or other constituent documents (or, if the Holder or Controller (as applicable)] is a Trustee, the trust deed for the Trust); or
 - (iii) any agreement, undertaking, encumbrance or document which is binding on that party.
- (e) before the Escrow Period begins, it has not done, or omitted to do, any act which would breach clause 3 (Escrow restrictions) if done or omitted to be done during the Escrow Period or taken any other action which will cause it to breach clause 3 (Escrow restrictions) during the Escrow Period;
- (f) no person has, or will have immediately following Completion, any economic or beneficial interest in the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) other than the Holder or the Controllers and the underlying beneficial owners of the Controller;
- (g) no person (other than the Holder or a Controller) has the power to direct or cause the direction of the management of the Holder or Controller (as applicable),

whether through the ownership of voting securities or by agreement or by virtue of any person being the manager or adviser of the Holder or a Controller (as applicable) or otherwise;

- (h) immediately following Completion, the Holder will hold the Voluntary Escrow Securities and each Controller will hold the Controller Interests as set out in Schedule 2 (Details);
- the Holder and Controllers have not granted any encumbrances or any interests or rights to third parties in respect of the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable), and will not do so during the Escrow Period (other than permitted by this deed), such that the Voluntary Escrow Securities and Controller Interests are free from all encumbrances and other third party interests or rights (other than where permitted by this deed);
- (j) other than Shares acquired under the Initial Public Offer at the Offer Price (if any), the Voluntary Escrow Securities and Controller Interests (as applicable) will, immediately following Completion, be all of the securities, economic interests or other interests that the Holder or Controller (as applicable) directly or indirectly has in the Company; and
- (k) if the Holder or a Controller (as applicable) is a Trustee:
 - the Trustee is the sole trustee of the Trust and, to the best of its knowledge and belief, there is no proposal to remove or replace it as trustee of the Trust;
 - (ii) the Holder or Controller (as applicable) has the right to be fully indemnified out of the assets of the Trust in respect of any liability arising under, or in connection with, this deed and the right has not been modified, released or diminished in any way. The assets of the Trust are sufficient to satisfy that right in full and the Holder or Controller (as applicable) has not released or disposed of its equitable lien over that trust; and
 - (iii) the Trust has not been terminated and there is no effective proposal or requirement to wind up, deregister, terminate, reconstitute or resettle the Trust.

6.3 Breach of warranties

A breach of any of the warranties and representations in this clause 6 is a breach of the terms of this deed.

6.4 Survival of warranties and representations

The warranties and representations in this clause 6 survive termination of this deed.

7 Permitted dealings with the Voluntary Escrow Securities

Except as expressly provided for in clause 3 (**Escrow restrictions**), nothing in this deed restricts the Holder or a Controller from dealing with the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable) or exercising rights attaching to, or afforded to the holder of, the Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interests (as applicable), including (without limitation) by:

(a) exercising any voting rights attaching to Voluntary Escrow Securities;

- (b) receiving or being entitled to any dividend, return of capital or other distribution attaching to Voluntary Escrow Securities; or
- (c) receiving or participating in any rights or bonus issue in connection with the Voluntary Escrow Securities.

8 Consequences of breach

- (a) If the Holder or Controller breaches this deed, each of the following applies:
 - (i) the Company may take any steps that it considers necessary to enforce this deed and/or rectify the breach; and
 - the Company may refuse to acknowledge, deal with, accept or register any sale, assignment, transfer or conversion of any of the Voluntary Escrow Securities. This is in addition and without prejudice to other rights and remedies of the Company.
- (b) The parties agree that damages would be an insufficient remedy for breach of clause 3 and the Holder and each of the Controllers agree that the Company is entitled to seek and obtain an injunction or specific performance to enforce the Holder's and the Controllers' obligations under clause 3 (Escrow restrictions) without proof of actual damage and without prejudice to any of its other rights or remedies.

9 Amendment

Subject to clause 13 (**Company to complete Schedule 2**), this deed can only be amended or replaced by another deed executed by the parties.

10 Termination

This deed terminates automatically if:

- (a) the Company withdraws the Initial Public Offer;
- (b) the Company is not admitted to the official list of ASX by 31 December 2020; or
- (c) otherwise when the Holding Lock is released in full in respect of all Voluntary Escrow Securities and Controller Interests.

11 Capacity

If the Holder or Controller has entered into this deed as a trustee:

(a) notwithstanding any other provision of this deed including any provision expressed to prevail over this clause 11 and subject to clause 11(c), the Holder or Controller (as applicable) enters into this deed only in its capacity as trustee of the relevant trust and in no other capacity. A liability arising under or in connection with this deed can be enforced against the Holder or Controller (as applicable) only to the extent which it can be satisfied out of the property of the relevant trust for which the Holder or Controller (as applicable) is actually indemnified for the liability. The Holder or Controller (as applicable) will exercise its rights of indemnification in order to satisfy its obligations under this deed;

- (b) subject to clause 11(c), a party to this deed may not sue the Holder or Controller (as applicable) in any capacity other than as trustee in respect of the relevant trust, including seeking the appointment to the Holder or Controller (as applicable) of a receiver (except in relation to property of the relevant trust), a liquidator, administrator or any similar person; and
- (c) the provisions of this clause 11 will not apply to any obligation or liability of the Holder or Controller (as applicable) to the extent that it is not satisfied because under the relevant trust deed or by operation of law, there is a reduction in the extent to which the Holder or Controller (as applicable) is entitled to exercise its right of indemnification out of the assets of the relevant trust, or the right does not exist at all, as a result of the Holder's or Controller's (as applicable) fraud, negligence, improper performance of duties or breach of trust.

12 Release of results

The Company agrees to release its full year financial results for the period ending 30 June 2022 in accordance with the timeframes required by the Corporations Act and ASX Listing Rules.

13 Company to complete Schedule 2

Each party authorises the Company (or any person delegated such authority in writing by the Company) to insert in Schedule 2 (**Details**), after execution of this deed by each party:

- (a) the particulars of Voluntary Escrow Securities in item 3 of Schedule 2 (**Details**); and
- (b) any other details necessary to complete Schedule 2 (**Details**).

14 Notices

- 14.1 General
 - (a) Unless expressly stated otherwise in this deed and subject to clause 14.2 (Notices sent by email) a notice, consent or other communication given under this deed including, but not limited to, a request, certificate, demand, consent, waiver or approval, to or by a party to this deed (Notice):
 - (i) must be in legible writing and in English;
 - (ii) must be addressed to the party to whom it is to be given (Addressee) at the address or email address set out in Schedule 2 (Details) or to any other address or email address a party notifies to the other under this clause;
 - (iii) must be signed by or on behalf of the sender (if an individual) or an Officer of the sender;
 - (iv) must be either:

- (A) delivered by hand or sent by pre-paid mail (by airmail if sent to or from a place outside of Australia) to the Addressee; or
- (B) sent by email to the Addressee's email address; and
- (v) is deemed to be received by the Addressee in accordance with clause 14.1(c).
- (b) If:
 - a party changes its address and fails to notify the other party (or parties, as applicable) of this change and the new address, delivery of Notices marked to the attention of the Addressee at that new address is deemed compliant with the notice obligations under this clause;
 - (ii) an individual named in clause 14.1 ceases to work in the role specified or ceases to work for the Addressee and the Addressee fails to notify the other party (or parties, as applicable) of an alternative individual, delivery of notices marked to the attention of an individual in the same or equivalent role at that party is deemed compliant with the notice obligations under this clause; and/or
 - (iii) an individual associated with an email address listed in clause 14.1 ceases to work for the Addressee and the Addressee fails to notify the other party (or parties, as applicable) of an alternative email address, notices sent by email to a manager or equivalent level personnel at that party is deemed compliant with the notice obligations under this clause.
- (c) Without limiting any other means by which the sender may be able to prove that a Notice has been received by the Addressee, a Notice is deemed to be received:
 - (i) if sent by hand, when delivered to the Addressee;
 - (ii) if sent by post, on the 6th Business Day after the date of posting, or if to or from a place outside Australia, on the 10th Business Day after the date of posting; or
 - (iii) if sent by email:
 - (A) when the sender receives an automated message confirming delivery; or
 - (B) 30 minutes after the time sent (as recorded on the device from which the sender sent the email) unless the sender receives an automated message that the email has not been delivered,

whichever happens first,

but if the delivery or receipt is on a day which is not a Business Day or is after 5.00pm (Addressee's time), it is deemed to be received at 9.00am on the following Business Day.

14.2 Notices sent by email

Notices sent by email need not be marked for attention in the way stated in clause 14.1. However, the email:

- (a) must be sent to the email address set out in Schedule 2 (**Details**) (or to any other email address a party notifies to the other under this clause; and
- (b) must state the first and last name of the sender.

Notices sent by email are taken to be signed by the named sender.

15 General

15.1 Choice of law (Governing law)

This deed is governed by the laws of New South Wales, Australia.

15.2 Choice of jurisdiction

Each party irrevocable and unconditionally submits to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of New South Wales, Australia, including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Federal Court of Australia sitting in New South Wales, Australia.

15.3 Further assurances

Except as expressly provided in this deed, each party must, at its own expense, do all things reasonably necessary to give full effect to this deed and the matters contemplated by it.

15.4 Counterparts

This deed may be executed in any number of counterparts and signatures on behalf of a party may be on different counterparts.

15.5 Time of essence

Time is of the essence to this deed.

15.6 Waiver

- (a) No waiver of a right or remedy under this deed is effective unless it is in writing and signed by the party granting it. It is only effective in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which it is granted.
- (b) A single or partial exercise of a right or remedy under this deed does not prevent a further exercise of that or of any other right or remedy.
- (c) Failure to exercise or delay in exercising a right or remedy under this deed does not operate as a waiver or prevent further exercise of that or any other right or remedy.

15.7 Severability

Any term of this deed which is wholly or partially void or unenforceable is severed to the extent that it is void or unenforceable. The validity or enforceability of the remainder of this deed is not affected.

Schedule 1 Dictionary

1 Dictionary

The following definitions apply in this deed.

Affiliate means any Related Body Corporate.

Affiliated Fund means each corporation, trust, limited liability company, general or limited partnership or other entity under common control with the Holder or Controller (as applicable) or that receives investment advice from the investment adviser to the Holder or Controller (as applicable) or any of their Affiliates or an investment adviser Affiliated with such investment adviser.

ASX means ASX Limited (ACN 008 624 691) or the financial market operated by it, as the context requires.

ASX Listing Rules means the listing rules of ASX.

ASX Settlement Operating Rules means the settlement operating rules of ASX Settlement Pty Ltd (ACN 008 504 532).

Business Day means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on which banks are open for general banking business in New South Wales, Australia.

Company means Cashrewards Group Limited (ACN 615 084 654) (to be renamed "Cashrewards Limited").

Completion means the issue and transfer and allotment of the Shares the subject of the Initial Public Offer.

Controllers means each person named item 5 of Schedule 2 (**Details**) and **Controller** means any one of those persons.

Controller Interests means the securities, economic interests or other interests in the Voluntary Escrow Securities (for the duration of the Escrow Period) in which the Controller has a direct or indirect interest and each intermediate entity through which that interest occurs, full particulars of which are set out item 5 of Schedule 2 (**Details**).

Corporations Act means Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Dealing, in respect of any Voluntary Escrow Securities or Controller Interest, means to directly or indirectly:

- (a) sell, assign, transfer or otherwise Dispose of any legal, beneficial or economic interest in such Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable);
- (b) encumber or grant a security interest over such Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable) or any legal, beneficial or economic interest in that Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable);
- (c) grant or exercise an option in respect of such Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable);

- (d) do, or omit to do, any act if the act or omission would have the effect of transferring, whether directly or indirectly, effective ownership or control of, or any legal, beneficial or economic interest in, such Voluntary Escrow Security or Controller Interest (as applicable); or
- (e) agree to do any of those things,

and **Deal** has a corresponding meaning.

Dispose has the meaning given in the ASX Listing Rules.

Escrow Period means the period for which the Voluntary Escrow Securities are escrowed as set out in item 2 of Schedule 2 (**Details**).

Financial Institution has the meaning given to that term in clause 5(c).

GST Law has the meaning given to it in the *A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999* (Cth).

Holding Lock has the meaning given to that term in section 2 of the ASX Settlement Operating Rules.

Initial Public Offer means the proposed initial public offering of Shares by the Company and by SaleCo.

Issue Date means, in relation to a Security, the date the Security is issued.

Issuer Sponsored Subregister has the meaning given to that term in section 2 of the ASX Settlement Operating Rules.

Offer Price has the meaning given in the Prospectus.

Option means an option to acquire a Share.

Prospectus means the prospectus to be issued by the Company and SaleCo in connection with the Initial Public Offer.

SaleCo means Cashrewards SaleCo Limited (ACN 644 956 383).

Security means a Share (including a Share issued on exercise of an Option) or an Option and a reference to **Securities** includes any combination of Shares and Options.

Share means a fully paid ordinary share in the capital of the Company.

Takeover Bid has the meaning given in the Corporations Act and includes a proportional takeover bid.

Trust has the meaning given in clause 6.2(a).

Trustee has the meaning given in clause 6.2(a).

Voluntary Escrow Securities means:

(a) in relation to a Holder, the Securities specified in item 3 of Schedule 2 (**Details**); and

(b) any securities attaching to or arising out of those Securities including any Shares issued on the exercise of Options.

2 Interpretation

In this deed the following rules of interpretation apply unless the contrary intention appears:

- (a) headings are for convenience only and do not affect the interpretation of this deed;
- (b) the singular includes the plural and vice versa;
- (c) words that are gender neutral or gender specific include each gender;
- (d) where a word or phrase is given a particular meaning, other parts of speech and grammatical forms of that word or phrase have corresponding meanings;
- (e) the words 'such as', 'including', 'particularly' and similar expressions are not words of limitation;
- (f) a reference to:
 - (i) a person includes a natural person, partnership, joint venture, government agency, association, corporation, trust or other body corporate;
 - (ii) a thing (including but not limited to a chose in action or other right) includes a part of that thing;
 - (iii) a party includes its agents, successors and permitted assigns;
 - (iv) a document includes all amendments or supplements to that document;
 - (v) a clause, term, party, schedule or attachment is a reference to a clause or term of, or party, schedule or attachment to this deed;
 - (vi) this deed includes all schedules and attachments to it;
 - (vii) a law includes a constitutional provision, treaty, decree, convention, statute, regulation, ordinance, by-law, judgment, rule of common law or equity or a rule of an applicable financial market and is a reference to that law as amended, consolidated or replaced;
 - (viii) a statute includes any regulation, ordinance, by-law or other subordinate legislation under it;
 - (ix) an agreement other than this deed includes an undertaking, or legally enforceable arrangement or understanding whether or not in writing; and
 - (x) a monetary amount is in Australian dollars and all amounts payable under or in connection with this deed are payable in Australian dollars;
- (g) unless otherwise specified in this deed, an agreement on the part of two or more persons binds them severally and not jointly;
- (h) no rule of construction applies to the disadvantage of a party because that party was responsible for the preparation of this deed or any part of it;

- (i) when the day on which something must be done is not a Business Day, that thing must be done on the following Business Day;
- (j) in determining the time of day where relevant to this deed, the relevant time of day is:
 - (i) for the purposes of giving or receiving notices, the time of day where a party receiving a notice is located; or
 - (ii) for any other purpose under this deed, the time of day in the place where the party required to perform an obligation is located;
- (k) a day is the period of time commencing at midnight and ending immediately before the next midnight is to occur;
- if a period of time is calculated from a particular day, act or event (such as the giving of a notice), unless otherwise stated in this deed, it is to be calculated exclusive of that day, or the day of that act or event; and
- (m) where no Controller is named in item 5 of Schedule 2 (Details), then references in this deed to Controller, Controllers and Controller Interests may be disregarded when applying the terms and conditions of this deed.

3 Compliance with ASX Listing Rules

During the Escrow Period, and for so long as the Company is listed on the ASX:

- (a) notwithstanding anything contained in this deed, if the ASX Listing Rules prohibit an act being done, that act must not be done;
- (b) nothing contained in this deed prevents an act being done that the ASX Listing Rules require to be done;
- (c) if the ASX Listing Rules require an act to be done or not to be done, authority is given for that act to be done or not to be done (as the case may be);
- (d) if the ASX Listing Rules require this deed to contain a provision and it does not contain such a provision, this deed is deemed to contain that provision;
- (e) if the ASX Listing Rules require this deed not to contain a provision and it contains such a provision, this deed is deemed not to contain that provision; and
- (f) if any provision of this deed is or becomes inconsistent with the ASX Listing Rules, this deed is deemed not to contain that provision to the extent of the inconsistency.

Schedule 2 Details

1 Company

Cashrewards Group Limited (ABN 95 615 084 654) (to be renamed "Cashrewards Limited") of Suite 306, Level 3, 815 Pacific Highway Chatswood NSW 2067 with email address retief.lampen@cashrewards.com to the attention of Retief Lampen.

2 Escrow Period

The period commencing immediately after Completion and ending at 10.00am on the next trading day after the date that the Company has released to the ASX its preliminary final report (being the Company's Appendix 4E) for the financial year ending 30 June 2022.

3 Particulars of Voluntary Escrow Securities

Voluntary Escrow Securities

- The following Securities held by the Holder on Completion:
- (a) all Options; and
- (b) all Shares other than Shares acquired under the Initial Public Offer at the Offer Price.

4 Holder

Holder:	lain Skelton
Address:	189 Ernest St, Cammeray NSW 2062
Email:	iain.skelton@cashrewards.com
Attention:	lain Skelton

5 Controller(s)

N/A

Execution page

Executed as a deed.

Signed, sealed and delivered by **Cashrewards Group Limited (ACN 615 084 654)** in accordance with section 127 of the *Corporations Act 2001* (Cth) by:

5

Signature of director

Bernard Wilson

Name of director (print)

Signature of director/secretary

Retief Lampen

Name of director/secretary (print)

Executed as a deed.

Signed, sealed and delivered by **lain Skelton** in the presence of:

110 \mathcal{D}

Signature of witness

- Sult

Signature of Iain Skelton

Jill Skelton

Name of witness (print)